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Introduction

sacres and migrations in the Pugjab on a scale un-
paralleled in world history in time of peace. Within
the space of three or four months thousands were killed or died
of privation and millions were compelled to abandon for ever
.their ancestral homes and to start life afresh in new surround-
ings. These melancholy events attracted attention at the time,
but they were so local in their effects that they have quickly
faded from the world’s memory. Nor have India and Pakistan
been sorry that they should fall into oblivion. Yet though sordid
and discreditable in themselves—redeemed, if at all, not by
striking deeds of heroism (for the weaker party were every-
where driven like sheep to the slaughter), but only by the dumb,
patient endurance of the multitude—these large-scale massacres
and migrations were sufficiently unusual to deserve more
chronicling than 1s supplied by contemporary newspaper
articles or-by second-hand propagandist compilations of atro-
city stories. Yet this is virtually the only record of them that
has so far appeared. |
In this book I have attempted, on the basis bf my own recol-
lections of these events, to throw a genuine, if Jimited, ray of
light on both their character and causes. Thes book falls into
two fairly distinct halves. The second half contains a detailed,
connected, and in places almost day-to-day account of the dis-
turbances that occurred from the end of August 1947 onwards
in the State of Bahawalpur—a territory immediately adjacent
to the Punjab—and of the manner in which they were handled
or mishandled. There are incidental references to the disorders
and migrations that were simultaneously in progress through-
out the Punjab, but no attempt has been made to give a co¥y-
prehensive—and necessarily second-hand—account of these.
The narrative is confined almost entirely to my own limited but
first-hand experience of the troubles in Bahawalpur. Within
_ this narrow scope it is a faithful and authentic record of what

7

T HE dawn of Indian independence was marred by mas-
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actually took placc; and though Bahawalpur lay on the outer
edge of the area of disturbance, the happenings there do, I
believe, illustrate a good many aspects of the whole upheaval.

The earlier part of the book is in a somewhat different vein.
It is concerned with the causes of thc upheaval and traces
political events 1n India and the Punjab from 193% until their
tragic dénouement ten years latér. It 1s not a purely personal
narrative, but it is not objective history. The story is told as it
unfolded itself to me at the time, not as it would appear to the
disinterested historian; and therefore only those events and
those actions and reactions of political lecaders reccive notice
which made a strong contemporary impression on my mind.
While some of these are of unqucstionable significance—for
instance, the Cabinet Mission of 1946 which, being a decisive
turning-point, has becn trcated in some dectail—others, parti-
cularly the twists and turns of Punjab politics and personalities,
loom large mainly becausc I had some special interest in or
connection with them. They may contribute— I hope they will
—to an understanding of the final tragedy in the Punjab, but
they are petty and parochial in comparison with all-India
events, some of which have received in these pages scant men-
tion or none at all.

The earlier part of the book dcals with large issues, the latter
part with minor l.cal episodes. Though widely different, the
two arc intimatc]y connected, for all the individual incidents
of the Bahawalpur disorders which are described 1n the second
part flowed directly from the broad political decisions of which
an account is gdiven in the first. To me this connection was
vividly clear at the time; to most of the individual sufferers it
was only vaguely comprehensible. They knew 1n a gencral way
that their misfortunes were the result of the departure of the
British and the creation of Pakistan, but the reasons why these
two things should cause the sudden disintegration of the social
order in which they wecre living and plunge peacetul Bahawal-
pur almost overnight into a state of virtual civil war were be-
y¢nd their powers of analysis. These results were certainly quite
at variance with the predictions and proclaimed intentions of
political leaders and official spokesmen.

When the clash came, my position in Bahawalpur was like
that of a battalion commander in an obscurc outlying sector
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of the field of battle. But during part of the preceding ten years
I had held a staff appointment which gave me an insight into
the movement and massing of forces leading to the conflict in
which I was subsequently involved. Thus, to change the meta-
phor, I ended by playing a small part in a tragedy the prepara-
tions for which I had long watched moving to their appointed
but unpurposed end.

In composing this narrative, I had originally laid down for
myself the principle of ‘nothing extenuate, nor set down aught
in malice’. I hope that 1 have nowhere departed from the
second half of it; but it has not been possible to adhere rigidly
-in all places to the first, and I feel that in addition some ex-
tenuatory remarks of a general character are necessary. The
narrative depicts mainly an ugly side of human nature and an
uninformed reader mlght derive from it a very adverse 3 impres-
sion of Punjabis in particular and of Indians and Pakistanis in
general. But just as one does not judge a man from how he
behaves *when he is drunk or in a fit of rage, so a whole people
should not be judged by what they do when temporarily in the
grip of mass hysteria; and this was the condition of a large
number of people in the Punjab in 1947.

I must add another word of caution. In most of this narrative
Muslims are the villains and Hindus and Sikhs the victims.
The unwary reader might half-unconsciousdy slip into thinking
that this was the universal picture. But in Ea. t Punjab the roles
were reversed and Sikhs and Hindus were there guilty of ex-
cesses against Muslims which equalled and, ir 1y judgement,
exceeded in scale and atrocity the outrages® perpetrated by
Muslims in West Pakistan. During the course of the disorders
in Bahawalpur I continually had to remind myself of this in
order to enter into the feclings of the Muslims by whom I was
surrounded. The reader likewise, if he is to preserve a fair
balance, should bear this in mind.

I am not myself conscious of any bias for or against any of
the three communitics except perhaps a sneaking sympathy for
the Sikhs. All of them, however, will probably be displeased M
some portions, at least, of what I have written. The Sikhs in
particular are likely to repudiate my interpretation of their part
in the tragedy, even though I have endeavoured to explain
and partially excuse it. Members of the other two commu-

A¥
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nities will, I am afraid, resent criticism of persons who have
become national heroes. But if one attempts to unravel the
causes of the Punjab massacres, it is impossible to disguise
these heroes’ large, if unconscious, share of responsibility for
what took place. If, therefore, I have dragged to light the errors
and ill-timed uttcrances of revered leaders which, though re-
marked on at the time, have since been glossed over or con-
veniently forgotten, ¢his 1s not done in any spirit of gratuitous
disparagement but simply to bring out the true sequence of
cause and effect. Furthermore, I recognize that, even if their
responsibility for the Punjab massacres was considerable, they
were acting in pursuit of ends and ideals which they and their
followers may feel to have fully justified these heavy forfeits.



I

The Genesis of Pakistan

had been forcseen more than a hundred years before

1947. By the turn of the present century it had become
the avowed object of Indian nationalists, and by the end of
World War I it was recognized by British statesmen as the in-
evitable outcome of thc British Raj. Pakistan, on the other hand,
was not thought of till about 1g30;! three years later Muslim
leaders were describing it to the Joint Select Committee of the
British Parliament as ‘only a students’ scheme . . . chimerical
and upracticable’; and not until July 1946 could its emergence
as a separate dtate be deemed incvitable.

In retrospect it is perhaps lcss surprising that Pakistan came,
as 1t were, with such a rush at the end as that it was at the
beginning such a slow starter; for as far back as 1888 Sir Syed
Ahmad, the great Muslim leader of the nincteenth century,
had laid down the premiscs which lead nattrally, perhaps even
necessarily, to the idea of Pakistan. India, he had said, is a
country ‘inhabited by two different nations’ and there would
necessarily be a struggle for power between themn, if the English
were to leave India. ‘Is it possiblc’, he had asked, ‘that under
these circumstances two nations—the Mohammadan and
Hindu—could sit on the same thronc and remain equal in
power? Most certainly not. It is necessary that one of them
should conquer the other and thrust it down. To hope that both
could remain equal is to desire thc impossible and the incon-
ceivable.’

In the Victorian era the possibility of the English leaving
India did not arise. Sir Syed Ahmad knew that he was ash}q

T HE emergence of India as a free self-governing country

1 The first clear expression of the idea is to be found in an address to the
Muslim League in 1930 by Sir Mohammad Igbal. He had mainly in mind
what is now West Pakistan. At a somewhat earlier date the partition of
India between Hindus and Muslims had been vaguely mooted.

I1
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and answering an academic question. His immediate practical
concern was to show that a system of government by elected
representatives—for which the newly-founded Indian National
Congress was beginning to press—could not be safely adopted
in India, for ‘the larger community would totally override
the interests of the smaller’. Yet in propounding the two nation
theory and drawing attention so" pointedly to the difficulties
of majority rule in a eountry where the population is not homo-
geneous, he had not only put his finger on the main crux of the
problem of Indian constitutional development, but also by
implication had suggcested a possible answer to it; for if two
nations could not sit on the same throne, why should they not
divide 1t?

This p0551blc solution, so natural a corollary of Sir Syed
Ahmad’s premiscs, so obV1ous in the light of what has actually
happened, remained for forty years neglected; not till the eight
years of investigation and discussion that preceded the passing
of the Government of India Act 1935 did it reccive notice, and
then only to be dismisscd as chimerical.

Of course it was the Muslims alone who could have been
cxpected to sponsor it. To the Hindu nationalists; who domi-
natcd Congress and led the movement for independence, the
idea of dividing India was anathcma. To the British, dimly
conscious that the unification of India was one of the greatest
achievements of their rule, it was not in the least attractive.
Though the muylti-racial Ottoman and Austrian empires had
dissolved before their eyes, they clung to the notion that their
own polyglot In¢ian empire should survive as a unity after they
themselves had quitted the throne. The backwardness of the
Muslims in the matter is not so easy to explain. In part it may
be attributed to the fact that some of their most ardent leaders,
including Jinnah himself, were for ycars in the ranks of Con-
gress and, under the influence of the common urge to shake off
the British yoke, accepted readily thc assumption that they
- would somehow be able to agree to share the throne with their
ijlndu friends. In addition, the inherent difficultics of division

elped to keep the idea in the background. Hindus and Mus-
lims, though they did not intermarry, were closely intermingled
and 1n many parts of India lived side by side. Division of the
country would, therefore, nccessarily leave large minorities in
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the new States so formed. Moreover the two regions in which
Muslims were in a majority—the north-west and north-east of
India—werc widcly separated, and to form a singlc Statc out of
such disconnected territories secmed hardly possible. For this
very rcason the idea of Pakistan, as at first adumbrated, em-
braced only north-west India.

The Government of India Act of 1935 took no account of the
Pakistan ‘chimera’. With the full concurrence of Jinnah and
the Muslim Lecague, Muslim interests were sought to be pro-
tected by other means. The quasi-monopoly of political power
which the Hindus’ supcrior numbers would tend to give them
was diminished by abandoning the old tradition of unitary
government in favour of a federal form of constitution under
which the Provincas would enjoy a large measure of autonomy;
Sind was detached from Bombay and made a separate Province
so that there would be four Muslim-majority Provinces?! out of
a total of clcven; the system of scparate electorates for Muslims
and ~weaghtage’ was continued; and it was envisaged that the
Native States would be included in the Federation and that
their representatives would have a neutralizing influence at the
Centrc. With these arrangements the Muslims appeared to be
content. Jinnah, it is true, described the federal part of the
Act as ‘fundamentally ba.d and totally unacceptable’. His
objection to it, however, was not that it failed to protcct Muslim
interests adcquat( ly, but that it did not provide immediately
for full responsible government at the centre, since defence
and foreign affairs were reserved to the Goveinor-General and
not entrustcd to ministers responsible toe the legislature.
Jinnah was in fact voicing, though less stridently, the same com-
plaint as the Hindu lcaders of Congress. Nevertheless, he and
the Muslim League and other Muslim political parties all
acquiesced 1n the Act and were apparently willing to give it a
trial.

‘This was the position on April 1st 1937 when the provincial
part of the Act came into operation, establishing in the Pro-
vinces full responsible government subject only to certain ¢sia¥e-
guards’. The federal part was necessarily deferred, as it was
only to come into force when a specific number of the Native
States had acceded to the Federation, and none had as yet done

! Bengal, Punjab, Sind and the North-West Frontier Province.
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so. Negotiations with their Rulers regarding the terms of their
accession were still in progress and it was hoped that after a
little time their doubts and hesitations would be overcome and
the Federation would be duly inaugurated. There was a possi-
bility that Congress might employ ‘wrecking’ tactics in order
to wring more concessions from the British, but no hint or sus-
picion of serious obstruction from the Muslims.

Within the space %of a single year the whole situation had
radically altered. A profound change came over Muslim
opinion, and there opencd between the League and Congress
a breach destined to grow ever wider and to lead inexorably
to the partition of the country and the massacres of 1947.
The British at first noticed these developments with mild com-
placency and did not exert themselves to,heal the rift. Later
when they woke up to the fearful consequences that might
ensue, they made desperate but unavailing cfforts to avert
them.

There is no doubt that the leadcrs of Congress were respon-
sible, though quite unwittingly, for this critical change in
Muslim sentiment. In retrospect it secms as though a curse was
laid on them at this time which compelled them over the next
ten years invariably to act in such a way as to bring about
exactly the opposite result to that which they intended. They
passionately desircd to preserve the unity of India. They con-
sistently acted so as to make its partition certain.

Their first mistake, which may be regarded as the fons et
origo malorum, was made in the summer of 1937. In the pre-
ceding cold weather elections had been held to the new Pro-
vincial Assemblics and both Congress and the Muslim League
had contested them. In all the six Hindu-majority provinces
Congress had been conspicuously successful; it had also done
well in Assam, where it was the strongest single party; but in
threc out of the four Muslim-majority provinces, viz. Bengal,
the Punjab and Sind, it had farcd comparatively badly. The
experience of the Muslim Leaguc had been curiously different.

the Muslim-majority provinces it still counted for very little
and won remarkably few seats. In thesc provinces Muslims
were either divided into warring factions or, where united,
belonged to local parties with traditions and alignments of their
own. Thus in the North-West Frontier Province the dominant
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Muslim party, the Red Shirts, had long been in alliance with
Congress. In the Punjab most Muslims belonged to the Unionist
Party, a combination of Muslims, Sikhs and Hindus represent-
ing rural and agiicultural as against urban and commercial
interests. Such success as the Leaguc achieved was not in these
Muslim-majority provinces but in those in which Muslims
were in a minority and could’never hope to form a government
themsclves. Probably its greatest strength was in the United
Provinces where Mogul traditions still lingered and Muslims,
though only about 16 per cent of the population, had succeeded
in retaining a political importance disproportionate to their
numbers.

Though Congress and the Leaguc had entered into no
electoral pact, thce Leaguc leaders had been careful to draft
their election manifesto so as to be in broad accord with the
Congress programme. Undoubtedly they fully cxpected that
in some of the Hindu-majority provinces, and particularly in
the Unned Provinces, they would be invited by Congress to
form coalition Ministrics. But in the summer of 1937 these
cxpectations were rudcely disappointed. With overwhelming
majoritics In the legislatures, Congress had no need for an
alliancc with the Lcague. The representation of Muslims in
the Ministrics could be obtained by the appointment of Muslims
from within the ranks of Congress.! So the League leaders of the
United Provinces were plainly told that there would be no
coalition and that if any of them werc to find places in the
Ministry, then the Muslim League Party in the Assembly must
‘ccasc to function as a scparate group’, andsall its members
must bccome members of Congress and submit themselves to
Congress party discipline and to the policy laid down by the
Congress High Ccommand. In other words Congress were pre-
pared to sharc the thronc only with Muslims who conscnted to
merge themsclves in a predominantly Hindu organization.
They offercd the Lcague not partnership but absorption.

This proved to be a fatal error—the prime cause o&thc
creation of Pakistan—but in the circumstances it was a verv

1 Congress, which always claimed that it represented all communities
in India, had within its ranks a sprinkling of Muslimms. In the elections Con-
gress Muslims had contested fifty-cight of the 482 Muslim constituencies
and won twenty-six.
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natural one. There was nothing in parliamentary tradition re-
quiring Congress on the morrow of victory to enter into a
coalition with another party; and a coalition with the League,
which the Congress leaders looked upon as a purely communal
organization, was particularly distasteful to them. They may
also well have thought that if in the U.P. the League could be
lured into dissolving itself it would soon disintegrate through-
out the country, leaviag no all-India Muslim party in existence,
but only isolated provincial groups. Morecover the idea of
absorption, of gathering all the Muslims into the Congress fold,
was typical of the Hindu habit of mind and the past history of
Hinduism. Nearly three centuries earlicr had not the absorptive
capacity of Hinduism impressed the Mogul emperor, Aurang-
zeb, with the danger that in India Islam mjght lose its identity
and become a forgotten element in an all-embracing Hinduism?

The Muslim League leaders rejected the Congress ulti-
matum. They were outraged at the suggestion that they should
dissolve their political organization; rather than do this they
were prepared to run the risk of permancnt banishment to the
political wilderness. Among the disappointed candidates for
office was Liaqat Ali Khan, a wealthy landowner of western
U.P. who in the coming years was to be Jinnah’s principal
lieutenant. Jinnah himself, who before the clections had bcen
saying that there was no substantial diffcrence betwcen the
League and Congress, at once began to adopt a very different
tone. Previously, though he had often stressed that Muslims
niust maintain their separate political organization and that it
was ‘no use enchuraging individual Muslims to come 1nto the
fold of Congress’, he had by no means been an out-and-out
communalist. He had been decscribed in Congress circles as
‘the ambassador of Hindu-Muslim unity’ and had been more
notable as an anti-British nationalist than as a champion of
Islam. But Congress rather than the British now became his
enemy number one and he embarked on a bitter campaign of
vilification. ‘ Muslims’, he said, ‘can expect neither justice nor
.faif play under Congress Government’ and all hope of com-
munal peace had beecn wrecked ‘on the rocks of Congress
Fascism’.

The reaction was not confined to Muslim League circles and
the Muslims of the Muslim-minority provinces. Muslims all
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over India, even in the Muslim-majority provinces, took alarm.
If the U.P. sample was to be the pattern of Congress’s political
conduct, then what would be the position of Muslims when a
federal government for all-India came to be formed? There
would be no room on the throne of India save for Congress and
Congress stooges. Before the year was out the Muslim members
of the Unionist Party in th& Punjab, under the leadership of
the Premiecr, Sir Sikander Hyat-Khan, dhhad gone over er bloc
to the League, and the Muslim Premicrs of Bengal and Assam
had also shown that they supported it. The adherence of the
Punjab Muslims was especially significant. In this province the
League had failed completely at the elections and almost all
the Muslim seats had gone to members of the Unionist Party,
Yet now Sir Sikagder took all his Muslim followers into the
League camp. They remained members of the Unionist Party,
but they also became mcmbers of the Muslim League. Sir
Sikander was very far from being a bigoted Muslim and had
little sympathy with the virulent communalism hitherto dis-
played by Muslim leaguers in the Punjab. But there was now
a strong section of his own Muslim {ollowers anxious to join
the League as the onc party standing forth clearly to champion
Muslim rights; and he feared that in the changed atmosphere
of Muslim alarm and resentment this section might break away
and then draw others after them, leavinlg him more or less
1solated and powerless to mould or guide Muslim opinion in the
Punjab. To avoid such a dangcrous split he decided to join
the I.cague himself with all his Muslim supporters. Subsequent
cvents showed that his fears were by no mean® groundless.

The League was enormously strengthcned by the accession
of the Punjab and Bengal Muslims, and Jinnah himself was
suddenly raised to an eminence which he had never cnjoyed
before. Instead of being merely one of several Muslim leaders,
without real backing from any of the main centres of Mushm
population, he became from now onwards thc undisputed
leader of Muslims all over India and acknowledged as _such
cven by the Premiers of the Punjab and Bengal.

The Congress leaders do not appear to have appreciated the
strong currents which they had set in motion, still less to have
perccived where thcy were likely to lead. So far from repairing
their original mistake and seeking to bridge the gulf that had
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been created between them and the League—grown suddenly
much more formidable—they made matters worse by launch-
ing, at Nehru’s instance, a ‘mass-contact’ movement among
the ordinary Muslims of the countryside. This was a signal to
the League to bestir itself and also gave it its cue. Hitherto it
had appealed mainly to middle and upper class Muslims and
had not sought to enlist the support of the Muslim masses. But
for a predominantly ‘Hindu organization like the Congress to
try to ‘contact’ Muslim peasants and artisans on a mass scale
was an affront and a challenge which the League could not
ignorc. So before the ‘mass-contact’ movement of Congress
had made much headway, the League itself turned towards the
masses. It reduced the annual membership fec to two annas,
began to extend its organization to the countryside and with the
aid of unscrupulous propaganda to rouse Muslims of all classes
to the danger of Hindu domination. This was an appeal to
essentially the same basic nationalist sentiment as the Congress
had been playing upon in its long struggle against British rule
and it is somewhat strange that the Congress leaders did not
foresee that by embarking on a ‘mass-contact’ movement
among the Muslims they would impel the League to invoke
this powerful sentiment against themselves. As a means of
appealing to thc Muslim masscs it was far morc effective than
the Congress programme of social and agrarian reform.
Thesignificance of whatwashappening did not come home to
me till the summer of 1938, when, after several ycars’ service in
the districts, I was called up to Simla to act temporarily for six?
months as Secrdtary to the Governor of the Punjab. I then
became aware of the crucial change in Muslim opinion and
began to have a dim prcsentiment of what 1t might portend.
The Viceroy, Lord Linlithgow, was at that time laboriously
attempting to coax the Princes into joining the proposed
Federation. Possibly a Viceroy with something of the brilliance
and personal magnetism of Lord Mountbattéen might have
sucqceded in this difficult task; but it was quite beyond the
scope of the more pedestrian talcnts of Lord Linlithgow and it
never seemed probable that the Princes would yield to his
methods of persuasion. It became clear to me, however, that
while everyone was still agog to bring in the Princes, their
1 The six months became three and a half years.
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reluctance to enter the Federation had already become of
secondary importance and that far more serious and significant
was the growing opposition of the Muslims. I realized this when
in July Sir Sikander asked me to help him with the ‘editing’
of a pamphlet, written by him or under his direction, entitled
‘Outline of a scheme of Indian Federation’. Sir Sikander was a
man of moderate and sober'views; I was therefore much struck,
on reading through the draft, to find ®ven this level-headed
statesman expressing the opinion that the federal proposals of
the 1935 Act were no longer acceptable and must be modified
so as to remove the misgivings not only of the Princes but also
of the minorities—that is, of course, primarily the Muslims.
The details of his fedcral scheme are not of any importance
now.! His main abjcctives, as disclosed in the pamphlet, were
to limit the authority of the Centre to the barest minimum and
to exclude the possibility of ‘Congress Raj’ by laying down
certain provisions regarding thc composition of the Federal
Executive calculated to ensure a nice balance of interests.

The scheme appeared to me to have little chance of accept-
ance and to be 1n some respects impracticable; but Sir Sikander
was very keen to lay it before the public. When 1 asked him the
reason for this, he replied with a wry smile that unless positive
proposals such as his were put forward for consideration other
people would come out with ‘something worse’. The ‘some-
thing worse’ to which he referred was the idea of Pakistan—
the ‘chimerical and impracticable students’ scheme” which, I
gathered from him, was now gaining a hold 1n Licague circles.

Hitherto I had hardly known the mcating of the term
‘Pakistan’. I tried now to get to the bottom of it. The essence
of the idea was that India should be divided, and a separate
predominantly Muslim State created out of the Punjab, the
N.W.F.P., Sind, Kashmir and Raluchistan. This would be
Pakistan. What should happcn to the rest of the Muslims in
India had noi at this time becn clearly thought out, but there
was an idea that a second predominantly Muslim State skould
be created in the north-east out of the provinces of Bengal and
Assam. This would provide a division of the country between
Hindus and Muslims on a rough population basis. There would

1 He envisaged a three-tiered constitution such as was later suggested by
the Cabinet Mission in 1946.
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be large minorities in all the three States, but their presence in
all of them might ensure their fair treatment. Furthermore it
secmed probable that States whose populations had previously
been so intimately associated would automatically enter into
some kind of close alliance or confederation and never become
to one another quite like foreign countries.

I was attracted by the idea. It seemed at first sight to offer
a simple solution of the Hindu-Muslim problem and, now that
the bogy of Hindu domination at the Centre had becn raised,
perhaps the only solution. Any system of safcguards and
statutory coalitions was all very well on paper but difficult to
work in practice. Sooner or later it was bound to break down.
I assumed, all too readily, that the Punjab, where thrce com-
munities (Muslim, Hindu and Sikh) were closcly intermingled,
spoke a common language, shared a common provincial pride
and to some extent a common culture, would remain a unity and
pass as a whole into Pakistan without the Hindus and Sikhs
raising too much objection.

One day in October 1938 during a conversation with Sir
Sikander I began talking to him rather enthusiastically about
the merits of the Pakistan idea and suggested that it might after
all be the best way of dealing with the communal problem.
Sir Sikander, usually so calm and suave, after listening for a
few minutes turned upon me, his cycs blazing with indignation,
and took me to task in thesc words:

‘How can you talk like this? You’ve been long enough in
western Punjab to know the Muslims there. Surely you can
see that Pakistan would be an invitation to them to cut the
throat of every Hindu bania.’?

I put forward the hostage theory—there would be so many
Muslims in Hindustan and so many Hindus in Pakistan that
both sides would hesitate to harass their minoritics for {fear of
reprisals. He brushed it aside. The Baluchis and'Awans of West
Puniab, he said, wouldn’t care at all about the lives of Muslims
in Hindustan. The hostage idea was a merc fancy. Both sides
would kill their own hostages. ‘I do hope’, he went on, ‘I won’t
hear you talk like this again. Pakistan would mean a massacre.’

His words, spoken with unusual intensity of feeling, made a

1 Hindu trader or shopkeeper, usually also a moneylender.
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deep impression on me. My original enthusiasm for Pakistan
evaporated, and for the next eight years my hope was that it
might somehow be avoided. Sir Sikander, on the other hand,
in less than eightcen months subscribed to a resolution calling
for its crcation.

The Muslim Leaguc’s slide towards Pakistan was exceedingly
rapid. It had first taken alafn in the summer of 1937; a year
later it had rcpudiated the federal schese of the 1935 Act;
by the beginning of 1939 it was considering other constitutional
schemes; in September 1939 it declared that Muslim India was
‘irrevocably opposcd’ toany federal objective. Finally in March
1940, at a session in lLahore, it passed what is known as the
‘Pakistan Resolution’” demanding in plain terms the partition
of India and the grouping of regions in which Muslims were
numerically in a majority, as in the north-western and north-
castern zones, into ‘Independent States’.

The Leaguc’s rapid and revolutionary change of outlook
was very natural; for once faith in the possibility of partnership
was shaken, partition was logically the only alternative.

Privately Jinnah told one or two people in Lahore that this
Resolution was a ‘tactical move’; and the fact that six years
later he was ready to accept something less than absolute parti-
tion suggests that in 1940 he was not really irrevocably com-
mitted to it. In part, thercfore, it may hav® been at this time a
tactical move, designed to wring from Congress concessions
which would make partnership more tolerable. Certainly the
implications of the resolution and even the coniposition of the
proposed ‘Indepcndent States’ and their ingerrelations had
not at this stage been fully thought out. Some of these matters
were clarified later, but Jinnah was never keen to expound the
exact naturc of Pakistan, and right up till 1947 there was somc
doubt as to what he would accept as conforming sufhiciently to
his conceptions.

Sir Sikandcer was gravely embarrassed by this resolution. His
own dislike of Pakistan—or Jinnistan as he irreverently called
it—was well known. He had publicly stated that if Pakifan
mcant ‘a Muslim Raj here and a Hindu Raj clsewhere’, he
would have nothing to do with it. He was the head of a Govern-
ment and the leader of a political party which included 1n its
ranks or among its habitual supporters Hindus and Sikhs as
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well as Muslims. Inevitably on the Pakistan issue there was
serious division. Sikander’s Muslim followers, as members of
the Muslim League, became formally committed to the demand
for Pakistan, whatever their private opinions might be;! while
his Hindu and Sikh supporters were wholly opposed to it. Sir
Sikander endeavoured privately to explain away the resolution
and to make out that it was not VYeally the intention that the
States into which India was proposed to be divided should be
entirely independent of one another. But his interpretation of
the resolution became more and more difficult to reconcile
with Jinnah’s public utterances.

In Bengal, asin the Punjab, the Muslim Premier, Fazl-ul-Haq,
had not yet in his heart accepted Pakistan, though pubhcly he
stood committed to it. Both he and Sir Sikander were in a false
position, but neither of them at this stage wished to risk a
break with Jinnah. Sir Sikandcr both now and right up to the
end of his life thought—and with good reason— that if he were
openly to oppose Jinnah, the Punjab Muslims would become
divided and he would lose his hold over them. So outwardly he
bowed to Jinnah, however much inwardly he might chafe.

It was all very well for Sir Sikander, Fazl-ul-Haq and perhaps
even Jinnah himself to have mental reservations about Pakistan,
but once the cry was raised, how would it be silenced? The term
was, no doubt, a vdgue one; but after the 1940 resolution it
rightly became synonymous in the popular mind with ‘ Muslim
Raj’—a State where Muslims would be supreme. To the Muslim
masses this hgld out an ill-defined but alluring prospect of
looting Hindus. With greater clarity of vision, ambitious politi-
cians and civil servants, as also some professional men, perceived
that under a Muslim Raj, with the crippling if not the elimina-
tion of Hindu competition, they could rise to positions of power
and affluence unattainable in a single mixed Hindu-Muslim
State. Thus the cry for Pakistan appcaled to and excited power-
ful appetites and individual hopes, and thesc, .once aroused,
would not be readily assuaged.

“The thicket of the people will take furtive fire
From irresponsible catchwords of live ideas

1In March 1940 a considerable number, probably a majority, of Sir
Sikander’s Muslim followers shared his antipathy to the idea of Pakistan.
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Sudden as a gorse-bush from the smouldering end
Of any loiterer’s match-splint, which, unless trodden out
Afore it spread, or quelled with wieldy threshing rods,

Will burn ten years of planting with all last year’s ricks
And blacken a countryside.’

Responsible statesmen lik® Sir Sikander might foresee the
dangers inherent in raising the cry for Pakistan, but ostensibly
the League had accepted Pakistan as its goal-——a goal which it

would be easy for demagogues to pursue to disaster, difficult
for statesmen to abandon or render innocuous.

The ominous trend of thought in League circles, of which the
1940 resolution was the overt sign, might have been checked if,
soon after the breach in 1937, the Congress leaders had made
positive efforts to conciliate Jinnah and his henchmen. But
for several reasons it was difficult, if not impossible, for them to
do so. Jinnah attacked Congress bitterly, accusing the average
Congressman of ‘behaving and acting towards the Mussalmans
in a much worse manner than the British did towards Indians’,
and letting loose a flood of malicious propaganda. Reports were
issued regarding the ill-trcatment alleged to be meted out to
Muslims in various Congress Government Provinces, in which
mountains were made out of mole-hills and trivial communal
incidents of everyday occurrence painted in lurid colours so as
to inflame popular feeling. Smarting under these largely un-
justified attacks the Congress leaders showed a good deal of
restraint, but they would have been more than human if they
had responded immediately with an olive brangh.

There was also another obstacle to any rapprochement. Just
as Congress claimed to be the only body representing all com-
munities and alone qualified thercfore to speak for the whole
of India, so Jinnah now claimed that the League alone repre-
sented the Muslims of India and must be recognized as the only
body qualified *o speak on their behalf. To Congress, which had
several prominent Muslims within its ranks—one of tRem,
Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, bccame President of Congress in
1g40—this claim was unacceptable; and in one shape or another
it remained a stumbling block in the way of any scttlement from
this time right up till the final calamitous end of Congress-
League relations.
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. Nevertheless in the summer of 1939 there were signs that
Congress saw the need for a settlement and desired to reach one.

Gandhi in June expressed the hope that British statesmen
would revise the federal scheme embodied in the 1935 Act and
‘try to placate all parties’. Congress spokesmen studiously re-
frained from criticism of the proposals embodied in Sikander’s
‘Outline Scheme’ which was published in the first half of the
year. Gandhi himself obtained six copies of it and during June
and July he and Sikander were in communication with one
another in the hope of finding some common ground.

But, despite these feelers, up till the outbreak of war there
had been no effective reconciliation between Congress and the
League; and when war came the gulf widened. Confused by
Gandhi’s pacifism and blinded by their own violent antipathy
to British rule the Congress leaders in September 1939 were
unable to view coolly the realities of the situation. To remove or
even lighten the British yoke in time of war was impossiblc;
but the days of British rule were obviously numbered and
already the crucial problem was not how to get rid of the British
but how to preserve the unity of the country when they had
gone. Jinnah and the League had already appeared as a
potential source of disruption. The threat to unity was quite
evident even before the Leaguc’s 1940 resolution. A united
effort in the war might have averted it and paved thc way for
settlement thereafter. If Congress had been willing to co-
operate and aceept for the duration of the war the existing
Constitution with its inevitable limitations, the moderate Mus-
lim elements, s#ll quite strong in the Punjab and Bengal and
not yet wedded to extreme courses or completely under Jinnah’s
thumb, would have gladly joined hands with them in forming a
government at the Centre and thus the foundations might have
been laid for a government of a united and independent India
when the war was over. Instead, Congress decided to stand
aloof, co-operating with nobody and coming te terms neither
with. the British nor with Jinnah. In October 1939 the Congress
Ministries in the Provinces were ordered to resign from office
and this proved to be the prelude to retirement into jail.
Jinnah was thus left with a clear ficld and he took full advantage
of it.

¥rom every point of view the Congress attitude was unfortu-
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nate except perhaps that of the successful prosecution of the
war. But this was the aspect which at the time most impressed
itself on the British. Congress ‘co-operation’, it was felt, would
take the form of daily and exasperating obstruction to which
‘non-co-operation’ or even active hostility would be preferable.
A section of British opinion was, thereforc, not at all keen to
have members of Congress in®office during the war and sccretly
welcomed their departure soon after its putbrecak. On short-
term considerations there was much to be said for this view;
and, whether deliberately or not, the Viceroy ensured that
events would conform to it. It is conceivable that if on the out-
break of war he had proclaimed in a few stirring words his
belief that a war for frecdom could only end in the freedom of
India’— as in fact it did- -the Congrcss would have been swung
in favour of co-operation—in which casc Jinnah would have
had to co-operate too. But Lord lLinlithgow did not adopt this
course. After several weeks of discussion and cogitation he
camc out on October 17th with a dreary prosaic statcment,
renewing previous assurances that Dominion Status was the
goal of British policy in India, but giving no indication when
that goal was likely to be reached. It was so ill-calculated to
appeal to Congress that cynics said it was purposcly designed to
ease them out of office. I'ive days later the Working Committee
called on the Congress Ministries to resign.*

The British disposition now was to leave Congress to stew
in their own juice. From the point of view of prev nting a widen-
ing of the gulf between Congress and the League, this attitude
was unwise. But even after the ‘Pakistan’ reyolution had high-
lighted the danger of drift, no active effort was made by the
British to awaken Congress leaders to the imperative need of
early reconciliation with the l.cague, if Indian unity was to be
prescrved. In both camps, howcver, the more sober elements
were profoundly disturbed by the 1940 resolution and, inde-
pendently of their lcaders, endeavoured to come to some under-
standing. During the summer of 1940 Sir Sikander through
various intermediaries got into touch with right-wing Congress

1 A group of British officers in the Punjab privately urged this course,
the most senior of them, Sir Malcolin Darling, approaching the Viceroy
on the subject while the rest tackled the Viceroy’s private secretary. Their

suggestions were ridiculed.
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leaders such as Rajagopalachari in the hope of reaching a
settlement. Though reluctant to break with Jinnah, Sikander
was ready in the last resort to do so and confident that he could
carry sufficient modecrate leaguers with him, provided that he was
assured of Congress support. But it was found that such support
could not be counted upon, for even right-wing Congress
leaders wanted that as part of the plan of settlement the Vice-
roy’s Executive Cougcil should be reconstituted so as to give it
an almost cxclusively non-official character and a far greater
degree of independence than the British were likely to concede
in time of war. Lord Linlithgow, when he got wind of these
pourparlers, was wholly discouraging and expresscd the view
that Sikander would burn his fingers; so they petered out early
in 1941 without any result except perhaps that Sikander,
though still wholly averse to Pakistan, became less inclined
even than before to stand up to Jinnah.

A year later, when the Japancse seemed poised for an attack
on India, the British themsclves did at last make a determined
effort to unite all parties in the common defence of the country.
Sir Stafford Cripps flew out to India in March 1942 with pro-
posals both for an interim government and for a final con-
stitutional scttlement after the cessation of hostilities. His mis-
sion failed and with its failure went the last chance of bringing
the Congress and Leaguc together in a ‘National Government’
for the prosecution of the war. Congress clung to the demand for
virtual indepcndcence forthwith, and settlement of all out-
standing problems—including the Hindu-Muslim quarrel—
afterwards. Thg British proposals, while they amounted in
effect to the promnisc of Dominion Status immediately after the
war, with full liberty to secede from the Commonwealth, con-
templated no major constitutional change while the war was
still in progress. It was mainly on this ground that Congress
rejected them. But Congress also complained that the pro-
posals were ‘a severe blow to the conception of Indian Unity’.
From the point of view of Hindu-Muslim relations this was
muén their most significant aspect; for this was the first occa-
sion on which the British publicly admitted the possibility of
Partition. The creation of ‘ Pakistan’ was not accepted outright
—on’"this ground Jinnah in his turn rejected the proposals—
but the right of individual Provinces and Indian States to stay
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out of the proposed Indian Union and form separate Unions
of their own was acknowledged. This was a triumph for Jinnah.
It put him in a very strong position, for if the Muslims of the
Muslim-majority provinces stood bchind him, he could now,
with the right to stay out conceded, bargain for the terms on
which those provinces would;come in and the dream of Con-
gress Raj over the whole of India would ngver come true. Even
Muslims who did not want Pakistan werc impressed by the
importance of supporting Jinnah.

andhi was mainly responsibie for the rejection by Congress
" of the Cripps proposals. Not content with this he came out
soon after with the startling demand that thc British should
immediately quit India altogether, even if this meant leaving it
to chaos and the §apanese. One prominent and courageous
Congress leader—Rajagopalachari, the ex-premier of Madras
and an old friend of Gandhi—now boldly made a stand. He had
for some time been uneasy at the negative, unrealistic attitude
of Congress both towards the British and the Muslims. He had
favoured reaching a settlement on the basis of the Cripps offer,
but had been «verborne and Gandht’s views had prevailed.
Appalled by the—disastrous and irresponsible futility of the
Gandhian policy, he now protested both publicly and privately
against the ‘quit India’ demand, asserting that it would be a
crime for the British to leave India at this juncture and that
their withdrawal without simultaneous replacement by another
government ‘must involve the dissolution of the State and
society itsclf’. This was plain common sense; but in the policy
which he advocated towards Jinnah and ehe Muslims he
showed more than common sense; he showed far-sighted states-
manship. In May 1942 he submitted to the All India Congress
Committee a resolution recommending acquicscence in the
principle of Pakistan. Statesmanship does not however com-
mend itself to the many except after the event. He was heavily
defeated, and soon afterwards, threatened with disciplinary
action for his denunciation of Gandhi’s ‘quit India’ polich he
resigned from Congress. Few now would deny that the Congress
leaders would have done well to follow his advice. For in 1g42
most of the leaguers, perhaps even Jinnah himself, did not in
their hearts desire the partition of the country, and to have con-
ceded Pakistan in principle would have smoothed the path for
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a settlement on other lines. But the voice of reason was dis-
regarded and Congress, following blindly the promptings of
Gandhi’s own ‘inner voice’, launched in August 1942 the
insensate ‘quit India’ rebellion. All leading Congressmen were
immediately arrested and put in confinement, When nearly
three years later, at the close of the war with Germany, they
emerged once again, they found Jinnah as intractable as ever
and considerably stronger. Almost all Muslims were arrayed

behind him in a solid phalanx.
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The Punjab and Pakistan

3
EFORE the general story is carried forward, 1t is necessary
Bto cxplain in more dctail the implications for the Punjab
ry of the demand for Pakistan and the reasons for Sikander’s
dislike of it. He had said to me that Pakistan would mean a
massacre. He had referred specifically only to a massacre of
Hindus by Muslims; but there was also the opposite danger of a
massacre of Muslims by Hindus, and this not only in distant
parts of India hardly known to me, where the Muslims were
far ou'nuibered, but in the Punjab itself- a Muslim-majority
province. In the province as a whole the Muslims constituted
about 57 per cent of the population and in the west of it were
markedly predominant, but cast of Lahore both their numbers
and their dominance fell away. Here the non-Muslim popula-
tion did not consist merely, or mainly, of merchants, shop-
kecpers and clerks. In the districts immediately east of Lahore
lay thec homelands of the Sikhs—-the vigoroushbut violent peasant
stock that only 100 years before had held swav over most of the
province; and in the south-cast towards Delhi dselt the Hindu
Jats—a tough peasantry with martial traditions and racially
akin to the Sikhs. Would all these turbulent folk.meekly accept
a Muslim Raj?

Here lay the crux of the Pakistan problem. According to the
ideas of Jinnah and the Muslim Leaguec, the Punjab, being a
Muslim-majority province, would be part of Pakistan. But if so,
it would be nccessary to square the Sikhs. For how could this
robust and highly self-conscious community be incorporated
in a Muslim State against their will> They would certainly
resist it by force.

The Sikhs had an importance in the Punjab, and even in
India as a whole, quite out of proportion to their numbers.
Altogether there were only about six million of them. Eveninthe
Punjab, where they were mainly concentrated, they constituted

29
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less than 20 per cent of the population and were not in an
absolute majority in a single district. But they were an enter-
prising and relatively prosperous community. They held a dis-
proportionately large share of the best land in the Punjab—
in part a legacy from the days when they were its rulers, in
part a result of their remarkable success as colonists of the new
canal-irrigated lands in West Pi#njab. They had also acquired
under British rule & privileged position in the army—no other
community had such a high percentage of its members serving
as soldiers.

Originally the Sikhs were simply a religious sect. Their sub-
sequent emergence at the end of the seventeenth century as a
distinct and militant community was a result of Muslim rule
and oppression and may be regarded as one of the Hindu pro-
tests against the proselytizing zcal of the Mogul emperor
Aurangzeb. The core of the community consists of peasants of the
Jat tribe.! A certain number of Hindus of the urban commercial
classes have grown beards and embraced Sikhism and some of
these with their superior education and intellectual qualities
have played an important part in the leadership of the Sikh
community. But the typical Sikh is a sturdy ‘Jat’ peasant. It
was through his toughness that under the stimulus of Mushim
oppression the Sikhs developed into a distinct community, and
through his fighting?qualities that Maharajah Ranjit Singh, him-
self a Jat Sikh, founded and sustained a Sikh kingdom in the
Punjab on the ruins of the Mogul empire.

Naturally withh this background the Sikhs were deeply
alarmed at Jinnah’s plan for dividing India and forming an
independent Muslim-dominated State—Pakistan—in which
they and the whole of the Punjab would be included. Their
reaction to it was the exact counterpart of the reaction of the
Muslims to a Hindu-dominated India. Just as the Muslims, with
their memories of the Mogul empire, were not prepared to see
themselves condemned to a position of infgriority under a
permanent Hindu majority, so the Sikhs, remembering that
only 100 years before they had ruled the Punjab, were not pre-
pared to become a tiny minority in a large Muslim State.

1 The Jats were the predominant agricultural tribe of the Punjab as it
existed before Partition. There are Muslim and Hindu Jats as well as Sikh
Jats. They probably all have a common Scythian origin.
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Moreover, just as the Muslims could use the threat of dividing
India as a means of extracting concessions from the Hindu
majority, so the Sikhs saw that they could use the threat of
dividing the Punjab as a means of extracting concessions from
the Muslims.

The crucial position held by the Sikhs, if Pakistan were to
become a live issue, could not escape the notice of any Punjab
civilian. It was particularly forced on my~attention; for soon
after the outbreak of war I became rather intimately concerned
with Sikh affairs, and in 1941 I was appointed Deputy Com-
missioner! of the district of Amritsar, It lay in the heart of the
Sikh country and the city of Amritsar itself, built round the
Golden Temple, was the main religious and political centre
of the Sikhs. Here were the headquarters of the Akalis,? the
most powerful Sikh political party, representing an extreme
form of Sikh nationalism with a strongly anti-British bias.
They controlled the Golden Temple—and indeed most other
Sikh shrines - and buzzed about the place like angry wasps.

A very senior British official told me that the Deputy Com-
missioner, Amritsar, ought to regard himself as British ambassa-
dor to the Sikhs The practice of some of my predecessors had
conformed to this conception. They had considered it their
duty to keep themselves fully informed of the Sikh point of view
on all important matters and to represent it to the Government
as cogently as possible. With many great issues looming ahcad
it seemed very desirable that this tradition should be maintained.
Inevitably, therefore, I had to try to establish fricndly relations
with Sikh political leaders and particularly witlk» Master Tara
Singh and other prominent Akalis. In this I was greatly assisted
both by my predecessor and also by a military officer, Major
Short, with whom I had been thrown into close contact since
the middle of 1940.

1In the Punjab the head of a district was called the Dcputy Com-
missioner.

2 Akali means immortal. The Akalis (Immortals) were originally a far,pus
regiment of Ranjit Singh. The term was revived during the movement after
World War 1 for the liberation of Sikh shrines (gurdwaras) from the control
of hereditary priests. Those who took part in this movement were described
as Akalis. Since the priests’ possession of the shrines (often very well en-
dowed) was legal, the Government tended to support them and the move-
ment quickly took an anti-Government turn.
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Short was a ‘dug-out’ officer of the XIth Sikh regiment and
a great Sikh enthusiast—destined over the next few years to
plead their cause in vain. He had come to the Punjab in the
summer of 1940 in consequence of a series of disquieting inci-
dents among Sikh elements of the armed forces, which had cul-
minated in April 1940 in the refusal of the Sikh squadron of the
Central India Horse to embark at Bombay for the Middle
East. A considerable flutter had been caused in Army Head-
quarters. There was some wild talk of disbanding all Sikh units;
and, more seriously, a proposal was put forward to stop all
further recruitment of Sikhs. The Punjab Government strongly
opposed any such drastic step and a decision was wisely taken
to try to restore the situation by more conciliatory methods. At
Short’s suggestion, he and a number of officers specially selected
for their experience of Sikhs were deputed to probe and report
on Sikh unrest in certain army units and i1n the principal Sikh
districts. Latcr, a few officers, similarly picked, were posted in
the main areas of Sikh recruitment and required to stimulate
sustained and co-opcrative cfforts by the civil and military
authorities to allay Sikh disquiet and to induce a healthier
attitude among the Sikhs towards the war and recruitment.
Short was one of these civil liaison officers, as they were called,
with his base at Lahore.

The Sikhs’ favoured position in the army, with all that it
meant in the way of pay and pensions in a land of chronic
under-employment, was something that it was very much in
their interest to retain. But if owing to the misconduct of Sikh
troops or the Jjsaffection of the Sikh population the recruitment
of Sikhs was stopped or greatly reduced, that favoured position
would be lost—and lost for ever; for in a free India, which was
already in sight, neither of the two major communities, Hindu or
Muslim, would have the slightest motive for restoring it. This
was a danger which no Sikh could overlook; and it was not
lost upon the Akalis. They were, however, in a rather difficult
pa-ition. Hitherto their attitude had generally been anti-
British and they formed along with the Congress the opposition
to Sir Sikander’s anglophile Unionist Government.! Most of
their leaders had been to jail and had spent their lives in anti-

1 A weaker Sikh group, the Khalsa National Party, representative of
conservative and relatively pro-British Sikhs, supported the Unionists.
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government agitation; indeed it was largely Akali influence that
had unsettled the Sikhs and shaken the loyalty of the Sikh
soldier. It was not easy, therefore, for them to perform a.com-
plete volte-face and openly advocate full collaboration with the
Unionist Government and the British in the prosecution of the
war. But in order to safeguard the position of the Sikh in the
army some of them were inclined to modify their attitude of
opposition. The danger of becoming isolated, unbefriended by
either the Congress, Muslim League or the British, also began
to dawn on them. In the jockeying for position in anticipation
of the end of the British Raj, who except the British would sup-
“port a minority community like the Sikhs?

Circumstances were, therefore, not unfavourable to a revival
of Anglo-Sikh amity, and for facilitating this rapprochement
Short at Lahore, covering also Amritsar and the central Punjab
districts and with influential friends in the Sikh State of Patiala,
was in a key position. His duties were not strictly political; but
obviously, if he was to effect anything in the Sikh recruiting
areas, he had to meet, converse with, and try to have an impact
on Sikh political leaders. He threw himselt into his work with
enthusiasm and was soon accepted by leading Sikhs, and not
least by the Akalis, as a friend and well-wisher. In addition he
became intimate with Sir Sikander and other influential Punjabi
Muslims and won the confidence of the Governor, Sir Henry Craik.

Short conceived his immediate and pressing task to be to
rally the maximum Sikh support for Britain’s war effort by
restoring Anglo-Sikh amity and by inducing the largest possible
measure of Sikh-Muslim amity in the Punjab. But-he also viewed
current Punjab affairs in the wider context of India’s future,
‘Settle the Sikh’, he would say, ‘and you settle India.’ There was
an element of truth in this exaggeration; for, as already ex-
plained, the Muslim-Sikh problem in the Punjab was a repro-
duction in microcosm—and in reverse—of the general Hindu-
Muslim problem in India as a whole, and a political settlement
in the Punjab acceptable to the Sikh minority, besides servyng
the immediate purposes of war, would contribute to the larger
end of an all-India Hindu-Muslim settlement. With a true but
ill-fated prescience Short worked for a Muslim-Sikh accord—
which in political terms meant an alliance between the Unionists
and the Akalis. His first efforts were repulsed, and this was not

B
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surprising; for though the Akalis were in process of becoming
rather less hostile to the British and so indirectly—but more
unwillingly—Iless hostile to Sikander’s pro-British Unionist
Government, there was still much suspicion on both sides. To
the Akalis Sikander’s ostensible support of the demand for
Pakistan seemed hard to reconcile with any genuine goodwill
for the Sikhs. To Sikander the Akalis appeared insatiable; one
concession, he felt,would only lead to the demand for another
and nothing would win their permanent attachment.

But Short persevered and with good reason; for in face of the
demand for Pakistan some kind of understanding between the
Akalis and the Punjabi Muslims was essential, if first a dissi-
pation of the Punjab’s war effort and then a disastrous division
of the province was to be avoided. Both sides knew that divi-
sion was contrary to the interests of all Punjabis, whether
Muslim, Sikh or Hindu. Both sides dreaded it. But if the de-
mand for Pakistan was pressed it might become inescapable;
for the Akalis were quite determined that the Sikhs should not
become a helpless minority in an independent Muslim State.
Rather than this they would face—indced insist upon—division
despite all its disadvantages not least to the Sikhs themselves.

At first sight the distribution of population in the Punjab
as it then existed might appear not unfavourable to partition.
‘The western districts werc predominantly Muslim, the eastern
predominantly non-Muslim. It might therefore seem easy and
natural to divide the province into two roughly equal parts by
a line drawn down the centre between the two principal cities
of Lahore and Amritsar. But any such line would be geographic-
ally, ethmcally and economically wholly artificial. Save for a
few outlying districts the Punjab was a close-knit unity, and
the population so intermingled, especially in the central
districts, that wherever the line was drawn large numbers of
all three communities would find themselves on the wrong side
of it. Moreover, though differing in religion; the population
in all parts of the province was drawn from the same racial
stocks, spoke a common language and was very conscious of
being Punjabi. Economically too the province was a unity.
Its prosperity rested on an elaborate network of canals, spread
right across it from east to west, which had cnabled large tracts
of desert to be converted into flourishing ‘colonies’. People
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from all over the province had a stake i1n these colonies and had
played a part in their development A hne drawn down the
centre of the Punjab mught serve well enough as a boundary
between two provincial administrations both subordinate to the
same central government, but if 1t were to be made a regular
frontier between two scparate, sovereign, independent States,
it would at best cause cnormous economic dislocation and
hardship and at worst lead to serious disorders

Sikander and the majority of the Punjabr Muslims, aware of
the real facts of the situation, wcre utterly opposed to such an
arttficial division of the province Lkven extremust Mushms,
who were amimated by narrow sectarian impulses rather than
by broad feelings of provincial patriotism and regard for the
general interest, wishcd such division to be avoided Pakistan
according to thar conception included the whole of the Punjab.
I'ts division on a population basis would mean the acceptance by
them of a tiuncated Pakistan, with large numbers of their co-
rehigiomsts lcdt just on the wrong sidc of the frontier and with
Hindustan 1 contiol of thc hcadwatcrs of threc! of the five
Punjab rivers lhey had, thcrefore, sttong motives for wishing
to kecp the Punyjab intact

The Akalis for thar part also looked at the matter from a
narrow sectarian point of view and fully 1cahizcd how damaging
division would be to the Sthhs On a stiictly population basis
the likely dividing hine would leave two mlhion of them, wath all
their valuablc colony lands not to mention some important
Sikh shrincs, on the Pakistan side To a small community of only
s1x million such a division might well be fatal Tha Akali leaders
sought to comfort themselves with the hope that the line of
division might be shifted westwards, even as far as the river
Chenab, so that all the rich colony lands of the Lyallpur and
Montgomery districts with their numerous Sikh peasantry
would fall into East Punjab and bec excluded from Pakistan.
During my timc at Amritsar onc of them tried hard to coax me
into conceding that this was a possibility and urged that,gf 1t
came to a division of the Punjab, the Sikhs’ stake 1n the colony
lands and the part they had played 1n devcloping them would
have to be taken into account. I told him bluntly that such
hopes were 1n my view 1illusory and that if Pakistan became

1] he Sutlej, Bcas and Rav,



36 DIVIDE AND QUIT

inevitable either it woyld include the whole of the Punjab or
the Punjab would be divided on a population basis by a line
down the middle. The Wagah Rest House, I said, would mark
the dividing line—this being a well-known canal inspection
bungalow near the Grand Trunk Road on the border of the

Lahore and Amritsar! districts. I did not manage to convince
him. He recurred to the subject more than three years later at
the time of the Cab.tiet Mission, and in one form or another this
illusory hope persisted to the very end.

But in 1942-3 the Akalis’ main hope was that the threat of
Pakistan would not materialize. In the then prevailing mood
of Punjabi Muslims this hope seemed well-founded; but the
prospects of its realization would be greatly improved by a
political alliance between Unionists and Akalis. If the Muslim
and Sikh communities, as represented by these political partlcs
stood firmly together, Pakistan would in all probability remain
an aspiration; for without the support of the Punjabi Muslims
it could not come into being. Even if, at worst, the latter were
compelled to translate into reality their nominal adherence to
the idea of Pakistan, a Unionist-Akal1 alliance was likely to
prevent the division of the province between two sovereign
States and lead to an offer to the Sikhs of special rights and
privileges which would make them feel that their community
had a more glorious future as part of Pakistan, supported by the
combined might of Muslims and Sikhs, than as an insignificant
fragment of Hinbu India.

~The prospect, then, of a disruption of the Punjab, which the
demand for Bakistan secmed to portend, made natural and
possible the coming together of Unionists and Akalis; and to
well-wishers of the province an understanding between them
certainly scemed desirable. The death early in 1941 of Sir
Sunder Singh Majithia, the leader of the Khalsa National
Party and a prominent member of Sikander’s Government,
provided the opportunity for some political raealignment; but
- it wps not till a year later that through the prolonged efforts of
Major Short and a few others an agreement was reached be-
tween Unionists and Akalis known as the Sikander-Baldev

Singh pact. S. Baldev Singh, who though himself not an Akali

1 The frontier post between India and Pakistan on the Grand Trunk road
is, in fact, at Wagah'
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was known to be acceptable to the Akali Party, became the
Sikh Minister in the Punjab Cabinet and the Akalis tacitly
undertook to refrain at least from active opposition. The first
fruits of this pact were seen in the Akalis’ attitude towards
Gandhi’s rebellion in August 1942. Only a handful of them took
part in it; the majority held aloof and did nothing to embarrass
the Punjab Government.

‘At present’, I commented at the time, this pact cannot be
regarded as more than a temporary truce. Its significance lies
in its potentialities for the future. That a prcdominantly Muslim
Government should have been able to come to terms, even
temporarily, with a party of extreme Sikh nationalists is some-
thing to the good, and if the truce holds good for a few years it
may develop into real understanding between the Unionist
Government and the Akalis and bear fruit in the form of a far-
reaching Sikh-Muslim compromise regarding the sharing of
power in the Punjab. If such a compromise were cffected, it
would facilitate and perhaps give the clue to a similar solution
of the all-India problem.’

A series of misfortunes and mistakes blasted the hopes thus
cautiously expressed. The Unionist Party crumbled to pieces,
and in consequence the Sikander-Baldev Singh pact instead of
being the salvation of the province contributed to its undoing.
Jinnah gained complete ascendancy over the Punjabi Muslims,
crushing all opposition till there was none left to resist him or
even to tell him the real truth about the Punjab. He himself
knew no more of the Punjab than Neville Chamberlain did of
Czechoslovakia.

This tragic history will be traced in later pages;! but the first
misfortune occurred at the close of 1942. Suddenly one night
without any warning Sikander had a heart attack and died.
He was only fifty and his death was entirely unexpected.

Felix opportunitate mortis. 1 said this at the time and I still feel
that it is true. He died at the height of his powcr and reputation
and escaped a future which seemed to threaten both. The wuth
is that the demand for Pakistan had put him in a quandary from
which there was no obvious way out. For nearly two years he
had contrived to reconcile the irreconcilable—his own political
beliefs, proclaimed by his leadership of the Unionist Party, and

1 Chapter V.
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his acceptance of the Pakistan resolution. But it is doubtful
whether even he, with all his skill, could have succeeded much
longer in explaining away the contradiction. He would have
been compelled to choose between the risk of a break with
Jinnah (and consequent defection of a powerful group of Pun-
jabi Muslims) and the loss of all credit with his non-Muslim
supporters.

Many of us had been critical of Sikander for his constant
submission to Jinnah and unwillingness to stand up to him. He
was aware of these criticisms and during a long talk with me,
just before I went to Amritsar, defended himself against them
with considerable feeling. He said that unless he walked warily
and kept on the right side of Jinnah he would be swept away by
a wave of fanaticism and, wherever he went, would be greeted
by the Muslims with black flags. I was by no means wholly
convinced by his arguments. I thought that he underrated the
strength of his position in the Punjab and his hold on the Mus-
lims, reinforced as it was in the case of many of the promincnt
Muslim politicians by ties of personal affection. Subsequent
events suggest that his reading of the situation was more correct
than mine.

There can be no doubt that if he had lived and nerved him-
self to defy Jinnah he would have had more chance than his
successor of doing so without disaster. The probability is that
he would never have taken the risk, but would have continued
his temporizing policy and faced thc loss of all credit with non-
Mushims rather than hazard any defection amongst his Muslim
followers. If sn, he would at any rate have been a moderating
influence on Jinnah during the critical months of 1946—7 and
would hardly have allowed him to be driven into acceptance
of the partition of thec Punjab without making the smallest
attempt to reach an understanding with the Sikhs. On either
alternative, therefore, his death must be reckoned a great mis-
fortune.

9ir Sikander’s successor as leader of the Unionist Party and
Premier of the Punjab was Sir Khizar Hyat Tiwana, the scion
of a well-known family of West Punjab where he enjoyed
much of the status of a feudal baron. He was a man of the
highest courage—far more resolute than Sir Sikander—and a
strong, attractive personality. But, having only entered politics
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in 1937, he did not have Sikander’s experience and standing,
nor was he endowed in the same degrce with his diplomatic
gifts and charm of manner.

Like Sikander he was at hcart strongly opposed to the demand
for Pakistan; but he was less willing than Sikander to com-
promise or to bow to Jinnah’s dictation. Compromise was in
fact bccoming impossible, for Jinnah stood firmly by the de-
mand that all the Muslim-majority provincss should be formed
into Pakistan and repcatedly stated that this meant their com-
plete severance from the rest of India with no link save such
voluntary agreements as might be concluded between inde-
pendcnt sovereign States. He also began to evince a desire to
control the actions of the Punjab Government, claiming that as
thec Muslims, who constituted the majority of the Unionist
Party, were also members of the League, the Punjab Govern-
ment was a ‘League’ government and should submit to his
directives as President of the League. To this Khizar demurred
on the ground that his government was not a League govern-
ment but a coalition government with Hindu and Sikh mem-
bers.

Jinnah soon realized that in Khizar he had a tougher man to
dcal with than Sikander. He thercfore set himself to undermine
his position. There had always been among the Muslim Union-
ists a cliquc of communal extremists, ou! of sympathy with
Sikander’s moderate policies and wholehearted supporters of
the demand for Pakistan. Sikander with his capacity for being
all things to all men had contrived to keep them 1n check. They
were howcever readily available to Jinnah for the intimidation
of Khizar or, failing that, for rousing Muslim opinion against
him and bringing about his downfall. Khizar was not, however,
a man to be intimidated. He couragcously resisted Jinnah’s
attempts to dictate to him till finally in the middlc of 1944
there was an open rupture and he was expelled by Jinnah from
the League. The Muslim members of the Unionist Party were
now forced to choosc betwecen loyalty to Khizar and _the
Unionist Party and loyalty to Jinnah and the League. Thus
there opened the rift in the Muslim ranks which Sikander had
always dreaded and the Unionist Party, which had dominated
Punjab politics for over twenty yecars and governed the pro-
vince since 1937, began to disintegrate.
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It suffered a grievous loss in January 1945 by the death of
Sir Chhotu Ram, the leader of the Hindu Jats of south-eastern
Punjab. For a generation he had been one of the main pillars
of the Unionist Party. He was a forceful politician of great re-
nown within the province and had considerable influence
among some sections of the Muslims.

Khizar, though weakened by these developments, was not
immediately brougat down; most of the Muslims in the pro-
vincial assembly continued to support him. But there were
ominous signs of the way the tide was flowing and of what
might happen when a general election was held. Several well-
known Punjabi Muslims of comparatively moderate views
announced their adherence to the League rather than to the
Unionist Party. Where these went others were bound to follow.

Thus by 1945 Jinnah’s influence in the Punjab—the key
province so far as Pakistan was concerned—was very much
greater than it had been five years earlier when the ‘Pakistan
Resolution’ was passed. He had not destroyed the Unionists,
but he had made a breach in their ranks. Elsewhere too he had
strengthened his position. In Bengal Fazl-ul-Haq, the Premier
since 1937, had dared to defy him and had been overthrown in
1943. His successor, Khwaja Nazimuddin, was more amenable
and a whole-hearted leaguer. In Sind and Assam there were
Leaguc governments, and even in the North-West Frontier
Province, the one Muslim province attached to the Congress, a
League Ministry was formed during the absence in jail of
Congress’s allics, the Red Shirts, and the League established
itself as a political force to be reckoned with.

Jinnah’s relerttless determination to eliminate all independent
Muslim partics and to marshal all Muslims under his own
leadership was well illustrated in the summer of 1945, when
the Viceroy, Lord Wavell, on the termination of the war with
Germany, made a fresh attempt to break the political deadlock.
The members of the Congress Working Commuttee who were
still jn jail! were released and invited to a conference at Simla
to consider proposals for an Interim Government, all the mem-
bers of which, except the Viceroy and Commander-in-Chief,
would be drawn from the principal Indian political parties.
After the folly of the ‘Quit India’ rebellion Congress were in a

1 Some had already been released on grounds of health.



THE PUNJAB AND PAKISTAN 41

chastened mood and ready to co-operate. But if the Interim
Government was to be fruitful for the future, Jinnah’s co-
operation was also necessary, and Jinnah put forward demands
which effectually wrecked the conference. The Muslims, he
claimed, must not only have half the total number of seats in the
government, but all the Muslim seats must be held by nomi-
nees of the League. There must be no Mushm stooges of Con-
gress, like Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, ndr possible Muslim
‘Quislings’, like Khizar or any other PunJabl Muslim belonging
to the Unionist Party. On this demand that the League should
nominate all the Muslims Jinnah was adamant. Lord Wavell
had wanted to include a nominee of the Unionists, but Jinnah,
who was bent on eliminating them altogether as a political
force, would not hear of it. If we had acquiesced, he said
afterwards, in the inclusion of non-League Muslims in the
Muslim quota, ‘we should have signed our death warrant’. It
was over this issuc that the conference broke down.

The Congress had once claimed to spcak for the whole of
India. The claim was invalid and they had been compelled to
abate it. Jinnah now claimed to speak for all the Muslims of
India. This claim was also invalid; but unlike Congress he was

not compelled to abate it and soon he succecded for all prac-
tical purposes in making it good.



I11
The Cabinet Mission

Britain at the end of July 1945. Despite other pre-

occupations they were determined to give high priority
to the settlement of the Indian problem. The failure of Lord
Wavell’s Simla Conference left the field clear for soine fresh
initiative, and the capitulation of Japan on August 14th’made
it necessary to think not merely of interim arrangements but of
a final constitutional settlement. The Labour Government’s
first action was to order elections for the Central and Pro-
vincial Assemblies. Owing to the war these had not been held
since early in 1937%. It was announced by the Viceroy on August
21st that there would be fresh elections during the ensuing cold
weather. Their result, so far as the Hindu population was con-
cerned, was a foregone conclusion—there would be over-
whclmmg support for Congress. But they would be a test of
Jinnah’s claim to speak for all the Muslims of India.

The British Labour Party had always been sympathetic to-
wards India’s struggle for freedom and several of its prominent
members had been in fairly close touch with Gandhi, Nehru
and other .Congress leaders. There was therefore a natural
tendency to ihcline to the Congress’ view of things and a re-
luctance to regard Pakistan as a really serious and live pro-
position. Though the importance of Jinnah could not be
ignored, his firm adherence to the demand for Pakistan was
believed to be for bargaining purposcs; and in any case, so long
as he failed to win the allegiance of the Muslims of the Punjab
ayd N.W.F.P., Pakistan could not come into being and the
unity of India could be preserved. These were the hopes and
beliefs of the Labour Government as the year 1945 drew to a close.

Early in the new year the realities began to be seen to be a
little different. A parliamentary delegation visited India ;

in
January. Its members were considerably impressed by the

42

3 NEw Labour Government came into power in Great
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solidity of Muslim opinion in favour of Pakistan and some of
them felt doubtful whether Jinnah’s demand for it could any
longer be regarded as mere bluff. One of those who most
stressed the strength of Muslim feeling behind Jinnah was Mr.
Woodrow Wyatt, a Labour M.P. and therefore not to be sus-
pccted of anti-Congress bias. The correctness of his apprecia-
tion was confirmed by the results of the elections. In the
Central Assembly the League had alrcady captured all the
Muslim seats. In the Provincial Assemblies it now won 446 out
of a total of 495 Muslim seats. Its only failure was in the
N.W.F.P., but this was of small significance compared with its
smashing success in the Punjab. Here in 1937 it had utterly
failed, securing only one of the Muslim seats in the Provincial
Asscmbly while the Unionists captured all the rest. But now
the tables were turned. The League won scventy-nine scats and
Khizar and thec Muslim Unionists were reduced to a mere
handful of ten.! It was for all practical purposes the end of the
Unionist Paity. The cry of Pakistan, with its vague but allur-
ing connotation for thec Muslim masses, had proved irresistible.
Jinnah’s claim to spcak for the Muslims had been triumphantly
vindicated.

Obviously the prospectsof avoiding partition had considerably
worscned; but the British Governmen: were not lightly to be
deflected from their aim of preserving, while granting inde-
pendence, the unity of India which British rule had achieved.
‘They made now a last supreme effort to realize this aim,
atoning thercby to some extent for former British complacency
over the communal cleavage. It was not their faudt that it did
not succeed.

The leading figure in this British cffort was Sir Stafford
Cripps. In March 1946, almost exactly four years after his
previous abortive mission, he flew out once again to India,
accompanicd this timec by two other Cabinet Ministers—
Mr. A. V. Alexander and Lord Pethick Lawrence. Among
the members of his staff was Major Short, who had by this &me
returned to England. His inclusion in the party was a small but
graceful gesture to the Sikhs, suggesting (quite erroneously as it
proved) that their interests would be safeguarded.

1 After several defections to the League subsequent to the declaration of
the election results.
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‘The task of this trio of Cabinet Ministers was twofold, to
assist the Viceroy in bringing about agreement on the method
of framing a constitution and to assist him in the formation of
a new Executive Council, representative of the main Indian
political parties, for carrying on the government while the
constitution was being hammered out. These two things were
at this stage more than ever interrelated, for without a broad
measure of agreenfent about the future constitutional set-up
it was 1mpossible to bring Congress and the League together
in an effective Executive Council.

The task was sufhiciently daunting. Since the original Con-
gress-League rupture in 1937 all attempts to reconcile their con-
flicting aims had been unavailing, and these aims were now
more glaringly eontradictory than ever hefore. Jinnah con-
tended that there were two nations in India and that therefore
there must be two national States. The Congress maintained
the opposite. Between these opposing viewpoints there seemed
little room for compromise; equally there was little disposition
for it. Each side, being deeply distrustful of the other, preferred
to cling to its own perfect solution and unrealizable ideal rather
than risk yiclding an advantage to the other by seeking for a
middle way. Moreover, if any compromise formula were to be
devised, each side kpew that the other would stand on its letter
rather than its spirit, and instead of looking to its broad inten-
tion would seek later to twist its interpretation to suit their own
ends. There was, therefore, great wariness about agreeing to
anything.

Onec h0pf=ﬂ_11 feature was the growing awareness in India
that the British Government really meant business. Though in
some quarters there was still distrust of British intentions, the
principal political leaders were becoming convinced of the
sincerity of the Labour Government’s proclaimed resolve to
quit the scene and leave India to Indians. Power—and respon-
sibility—were at last within their grasp, and* this might be
expected to induce a more reasonable and realistic attitude;
for without agreement between the two major political parties,
transfer of power could only lead to chaos and civil war.

The main hope of such agreement lay in the possibility that
Jinnah would be persuaded to accept something less than he
apparently demanded. What was it he really wanted? Nobody
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was quite sure. Ostensibly he claimed a sovereign independent
Pakistan consisting of the whole of six provinces,? subject only
to minor frontier adjustments. In 1944, at the instance of
Rajagopalachari, Gandhi had offered him something less than
this—a Pakistan consisting of those contiguous areas in the
north-west and north-east of India in which Muslims were in a
majority. On this principle Pakistan would be shorn of nearly
all Assam and of large parts of the Punjab 4nd Bengal. Jinnah,
not content with a bundle of contiguous areas, had rejected
outright this offer of what he called a ‘moth-eaten’ Pakistan.
But how could he hope to get the Pakistan of his conception
except by persuading the Sikhs and other sections of the non-
Muslim population willingly to throw in their lot with Paki-
stan? Such persuasions were not necessarily foredoomed to
failure. Yet he had so far made no attempt to conciliate or win
them over.

All 1n all it seemed possible that he had not even now quite
decided in his own mind what he wanted or how to get it, but
believed that by uncompromisingly demanding a ‘six province’
Pakistan he would ultimately extort for the Muslims something
which, if not Pakistan, would be better than a bundle of con-
tiguous arcas. A formula, therefore, had to be devised, which
offered the semblance of a ‘six province’ Pakistan while pre-
serving the essentials of unity.

.. The Cabinet Mission’s arrival in Delhi coincided with the
onset of the hot weather and the temperature stcadily rose as
they went through a round of preliminary interviews with
representatives of the main political parties, the Irdian States,
the Sikhs, the scheduled castes, and, not least, with Gandhi.
He established himself in considerable style and with due
publicity in the ‘harijan’ quarter of New Delhi and, though
claiming to speak only for himself, was available as a sort of
universal counsellor to anyone who sought his advice. The
Cabinet Mission specifically requested him toremain athand and
in touch with them during the whole progress of the negotiatsons.

Towards the end of April, after completing their round of
interviews, the Mission took a short recess, expressing the hope
that the main parties would themselves now come together and
offer some agreed basis for framing a constitution. There was

1 Punjab, Sind, Baluchistan, N.W.F.P., Bengal and Assam.
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not the slightest prospect of any such thing occurring. Every-
one knew that the Cabinet Mission would themselves have to
propound their own scheme, and herein lay the only hope of
finding a compromise. Several schemes had in fact been mooted
during the course of the preliminary interviews and conver-
sations. One of these, though not perhaps intrinsically the best,
when adumbrated by Sir Stafford to Jinnah informally, seemed
to awaken in that @old serpent-like figure a spark of interest, the
scintilla of a positive response. Seeing the chance, Sir Stafford
took it. The fundamental principles of this particular scheme
were set down in writing and communicated on April 27th to
both Congress and the League as a possible basis of agreement.
Each was invited to send four negotiators to discuss themn in the
more temperate climate of Simla. These fundamental prin-

ciples were as follows:

(i) A Union Government to deal only with foreign affairs,
defence and communications;

(i1)) two Groups of Provinces, one of the predominantly
Hindu provinces and the other of the predominantly
Muslim provinces, to deal with such of the remaining
subjects as the provinces in the respcctive groups de-
sired to be dealt with 1n common;

(i11)) the Provincral Governments to deal with all other sub-
jects and to have all the residuary sovereign rights;

(iv) the Indian States to take their appropriate place in
this structure on terms to be negotiated with them.

"doth sideg accepted the invitation, but both made it clear
that this did nét imply agreement with the fundamental prin-
ciples. Jinnah merely reiterated his demand for a ‘six province’
Pakistan and, as a corollary, the setting up of two separate
constitution-making bodies. Congress specified straight away
their main objection to the proposed scheme. ‘ We consider it
wrong’, they wrote, ‘to form Groups of Provinces under the
Federal Union and more so on religious or communal basis.
Any sub-federation within the Federal Union would wcaken
the Federal Centre and would otherwise be wrong. . . . It would
result in creating three layers of executive and legislative bodies,
an arrangement which will be cumbrous, static and disjointed,
leading to continuous friction.’
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It will be seen that they objected to just those features of the
scheme which carried the faint impression of Pakistan. They
stuck to this objectlon to the bitter end.

The discussions in Simla, though comparatively cordial, led
to no agrcement, and it was left, therefore, to the Cabinet
Mission and the Viceroy to rehash and elaborate the scheme in
the light of the views expressed and to put it forward publicly as
offering the best arrangement for providing & new constitution
for an independent India. This they did in a carefully drafted
statement i1ssued on May 16th.

In this statcment the proposal for ‘a separate and fully
- independent sovereign State of Pakistan as claimed by the
Muslim League’ was considered and decisively rejected. It was
pointed out that a Pakistan of six provinces, as demanded by
the l.eague, would not solve the problem of communal mino-
rities since twenty million Muslims would still remain in
India and there would be non-Muslim minorities in Pakistan
amounting to 38 per cent of the population in the western part
and 48 per cent in the eastern part. ‘Nor can we see any justi-
fication’, the statement went on, ‘for including within a sove-
reign Pakistan those districts of the Punjab and of Bengal and
Assam in which the population is predominantly non-Muslim.
Every argument that can be used in favour of Pakistan can
equally, in our view, be used in favour of the cxclusion of the
non-Muslim areas from Pakistan. This point would particularly
affect the position of the Sikhs.’

The possibility of a smaller ‘truncated’ Pakistan confined to
the Muslim majority areas alone was also considered. 'iliic
rcasons advanced for rejecting this are of melancholy interest
in view of what subsequently took place. ‘Such a Pakistan’, 1t
was stated, ‘is regarded by the Muslim League as quite im-
practicable. We ourselves are also convinced that any solution
which involves a radical partition of the Punjab and Bengal, as
this would do, would be contrary to the wishes and interests of
a very large proportion of the inhabitants of these Provincgs.
. « . Moreover, any division of the Punjab would of necessity
divide the Sikhs, leaving substantial bodies of Sikhs on both
sides of the boundary.’

Having rejected Pakistan, the Mission proceeded to expand
and commend the scheme which had been discussed at Simla.
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In elaborating it they attempted to meet the views of both
parties, but basically it remained the same. A three-tiered con-
stitution was envisaged consisting of a Union limited to foreign
affairs, defence and communications, Groups of Provinces deal-
ing with such subjects as might later be determined, and the
individual Provinces themselves in which all residuary powers
would vest. After an initial period of ten years it was to be open
to any Province, by a majority vote of its legislature, to call for
a recorSideration of the constitution.

The Mission’s statement then went on to propose that such
a constitution should be brought into being by means of a
Constituent Assembly to be elected by the members of the
provincial legislatures,! and that the Constituent Assembly
should follow a certain procedure designed to meet Jinnah’s
objection to a single constltutlon-makmg body. It was proposed
that after an initial full meeting of a formal character, the
Assembly should divide up into threc sections—Section A
consisting of the representatives of the five Hindu-majority
provinces; Section B of the representatives of the Punjab,
N.W.F.P. and Sind, and Section C of the representatives of
Bengal and Assam. These Sections would draw up constitutions
for the Provinces included in each of them and would also
decide whether a Group should be formed and if so with what
subjects; but a Province would have the right to opt out of a
Group by a vote of its legislature after the new constitutional
arrangements ‘had come into operation. Finally the Consti-
tuent Assembly would mecet again as a whole to settle the
Usaon Constitution.

"The statement referrcd to the need, while the constitution-
making proceeded, for an Interim Govcrnment in which all the
portfolios would be held by Indian leaders having the confi-
dence of the people. It was mentioncd that the Viceroy had
already started discussions to this end.

The statement was well received. It was recegnized at once

1 Each Province was to be allocated representatives proportionate to its
population and this provincial allocation was to be divided in turn between
the main communities in each Province in proportion to their population.
For this purpose only threc main communities were recognized, Muslim,
Sikh and General, the latter including all persons who were not Muslims

or Sikhs.
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as a genuine and ingenious attempt to reconcile conflicting aims
and as unmistakable evidence of the British Government’s
sincere desire to bring British rule in India to a peaceful end.
Gandhi speaking at a praycr meeting on May 17th said that the
Cabinet Mission had brought forth somcthing of which they
had every reason to be proud; and even ten days later, when
doubts had begun to assail him, he still considered it ‘the best
document the British Government could h&ve produced in the
circumstances’. In spite of these encomiums it soon bccame
clear that Gandhi and thec Working Committee of Congress
would scrutinize every linc and comma of the statement before
committing themselves to an acceptance of the proposals.

Jinnah was less enthusiastic. The statement had flatly re-
jected the idea of a sovercign, independent Pakistan, and this
he could hardly be cxpected to applaud. But though outwardly
more critical of the statement, he was really, as it proved, less
inclined to cavil at it than Congress.

The largest volume of vocal opposition came from various
minority groups who felt that their interests were not ade-
quately safcguarded -—and not lcast from the Sikhs. The crush-
ing defeat of the Unionist Party in the Punjab elections early
in the year had come as a severe shock to them. As a result of
the Sikander-Baldcev Singh pact they had felt fairly secure
while the Unionist Party still represented the bulk of the Punjab
Muslims; and they had fully expected that the Unionists would
be victorious at the clections. But to their utter dismay a rabid
Muslim Leaguc Party had come to the front with whom they
saw no prospcect of reaching an understanding; and now,
according to the Cabinet Mission proposals, the Punjab itsel
would be swallowed up entire in a group of predominantly
Muslim provinces which, if not the equivalent of Pakistan,
might ultimatcly turn into it or prove to be as bad.

It was pointed out to them that as the Muslims were a bare
majority of th: population in the Punjab they would find it
impossible to rule the province without Sikh support-—the
Sikhs would, in fact, hold the balance of power. The Muslim
League Party in the Punjab might for the timc being seem very
hostile to them, but ultimately, like the Unionists, they would
be compelled to woo them. By these and similar arguments
Major Short and the Cabinet Mission tried to reassure them;
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but they would not be comforted. They had got it into their
heads that the Muslims were out ‘to crush them’ and more and
more their thoughts were turning to the idea of partitioning the
Punjab so that they might cscape altogether the threat of
Muslim domination. Early in May the Akali leader with
whom I had discussed this possibility as far back as 1942! came
to see me in Delhi whcre I was at that time working. He had
somewhat moderatcd his previous ambitions. He realized, he
said, that therc was no hope of the dividing line being so far
west as the river Chenab, but would not the river Ravi be a
very reasonable boundary? I pointed out some of the objections
—such a boundary would deprive Pakistan of L.ahore and of the
overwhelmingly Muslim districts of Montgomery and Multan
and yet leave many Sikhs on the wrong side. He said that he
contemplated some exchange of population. I replied that this
could only be accomplished by force and I counselled him not to
think of the partition of the Punjab while there was a reasonable
chance of preserving the unity both of it and of India as a whole.
It was obvious, however, that he would continue to think of it;
for now that the Punjab Muslims had gone over en masse to the
League hc despaired of reaching any accommodation with them.

Gandhi, who had hitherto shown little sympathy for the
Sikhs—he objected tQ the Akali leaders as ‘communalists’—
began now, perhaps not very wisely, to draw public attention
to their fears. Commenting in his paper Harzjan on the Mission’s
statement he wrote: ¢ Are the Sikhs, for whom the Punjab is the
only home in India, to consider thcmsclves against their will,
as part or“l.2Scction which takes in Sind, Baluchistan and the
Frontier Province?’ Certainly it seemed hard that willy-nilly
they should be lumped with predominantly Muslim areas, but
this was dictated by the actual facts of their geographical dis-
tribution. There was at the moment nothing which could be
done for them without upsetting the whole of the Mission’s
delicately poised scheme. Their fears, if not their‘interests, had
necessarily to be overlooked.

Meanwhile both the two major parties were examining the
scheme, apparently with some disposition toacceptit. Hopes of a
settlement were cnormously raised when on June 6th Jinnah,
abandoning his usual negative attitude, got the Muslim League

1 See page 35.
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to pass a resolution accepting the scheme and agreeing to join
the constitution-making body. The acceptance, it is true, was
stated to be ‘in the hope that it would ultimately result in the
establishment of complete sovereign Pakistan’, which still re-
mained the unalterable objective of the Muslims in India. But
the Mission’s scheme, whatever ultimate prospects and po-
tentialities it might hold, was a definite rejection of ‘sovereign
Pakistan’. To have induced Jinnah at last, publicly to accept
something substantially less than what he had hitherto invari-
ably demanded was a considerable success.

Jinnah’s acceptance of the scheme had been fairly prompt
and was ccrtainly genuine; but it would be wrong to conclude
that he agreed to it with enthusiasm. He had many misgivings
and hesitated a good deal before recommending it to the Council
of the League. Nevertheless from the Muslim point of view it
offered solid advantages. All the six provinces! which the League
claimed to be the Muslim ‘home-lands’ were included intact,
without any division, in Sections B and C of the proposed
Constitucnt Assembly; and since in these two Sections taken as a
whole (though not in all the individual provinces composing
them) the Muslims were in a clear majority, they could reason-
ably hope to ensure by majority vote2 that in the constitution-
making process these provinces would be formed into Groups or
sub-federations. These Groups, though tied to an all-India
Union, would be so powerful in themselves that no Hindu-
dominated Union Government would be able to ride rough-shod
over them; and there was always the possibility of sccession after
ten ycars. Thus over the short term, the scheme adeaawly
protected cssential Muslim interests and over tii¢ long term
did not preclude the ultimate emergence of a ‘sovereign
independent Pakistan’ embracing all the provinces which the
Muslims claimed. All Jinnah’s previous negations, more par-
ticularly his rejcction of the ‘moth-caten’ Pakistan offered by
Gandhi in 1944, seccmed justified now by results.

But the prospects of agreement still hung in the balance.

! Including British Baluchistan which was not constitutionally a ‘ Province’

like the others, but would necessarily go into Section B.
2 The Cabinct Mission had assured Jinnah that decisions in the Sections

would be by a majority vote of the representatives of the Provinces within
the Section and that the voting would not be by Provinces.
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The Congress Working Committee had not yet given their
verdict on the scheme and perhaps Jinnah’s acceptance of it
made them wish to scan it all the more closely. They tried hard
to gain acceptance for an interpretation of the scheme which
would make it optional for the individual provinces to join the
Sections in which they had been placed. Since the Muslim
League did not command a majority in the Punjab, the
N.W.F.P. and Assam, it could be expected that these Provinces
would elect not to enter B and C Sections and thus the grouping
desired by the Lcague would be frustrated. The Mission, how-
ever, firmly rejected the interpretation of the scheme suggested
by Congress. The grouping of provinces, they said, was an
essential feature of the scheme. A Province could opt out of a
Group by the vote of its new legislature only after the constitu-
tigm had come into force.

Days passed and the Congress Working Committee gave no
decision but withdrew to Mussouri for recess, taking Gandhi
with them. Meanwhile the Viceroy’s attempts to bring about
agreement between the two parties over the formation of an
Interim Government had run up against the usual difficulties.
‘The League claimed ‘parity’ with Congress and the exclusive
right to nominate Muslims. Congress rejected both these
claims. It became clear that, as in the case of the constitutional
problem, there was' no prospect of negotiating an agreement
between the parties and that the only course was for the Viceroy
and the Mission to put forward their own proposals and hope
that they would be accepted by both parties as a reasonable
oerapromise. The Mission was also getting impaticnt to return
home and Tesixed to bring matters to a head. Accordingly on
June 16th-—before Congress had pronounced on the con-
stitutional scheme—the Viceroy, in consultation with the
members of the Mission, announced that further negotiations
were being abandoned and that he had 1ssued invitations to a
named list of fourtcen persons to serve as gnembers of an
Interim Government. These consisted of six Hindu members of
- Congress (including one member of the scheduled castes), five
members of the Muslim League, one Sikh, one Parsee and one
Indian Christian. Thus Jinnah’s claim to parity with Congress

and with the Hindus was rejected, but his desire to veto non-
League Muslims was respected.
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The announcement stated that if the invitations were
accepted by the two major parties it was hoped to inaugurate
the new Government about June 26th. There then followed as
paragraph 8 the following passage, designed perhaps to put

pressure on Congress who were still hesitating over the con-
stitutional scheme:

‘In the event of the two parties or cithtr of them proving
unwilling to join in the sctting up of a Coalition Government
on the above lines, it is the intention of the Viceroy to pro-
ceed with the formation of an Interim Government which

will be as representative as possible of those willing to accept
the statement of May 16th.’

Since the League had already expressed its willingness to
accept the May 16th statement whereas Congress had not,
this scemed to imply that the possibility of forming a pre-
dominantly League Gove:nment without the inclusion of any
representatives of Congress was not ruled out. Whether the
Viceroy and Cabinet Mission really thought this to be a prac-
tical possibility or were merely bluffing is not very clear. It is
somewhat diflicult to bclieve that the British Government
would have consented to the hazardous experiment of govern-
ing the whole of India with the aid of only*Muslims, Christians
and Parsees. Yet Jinnah seems to have thought that they
might.

For a frw days there was no public reaction to the announce-
ment by either of the two major parties. The members 0¥ .the
Congress Working Committec had not all reassgmbiéd in Delhi
and Gandhi also was tcmporarily absent. There was, however,
a growing fecling of optimism. It was known that the proposals
were acceptable to Jinnah; but he did not intend to intimate this
until after Congress had spoken. In Congress circles there was
some desire to substitutc a Congress Muslim for one of the
Congress Hindus, but it was hoped that they would not press
the point in view of Jinnah’s strong objection. Both Jawaharlal
Nehru and Sardar Vallabhai Patel were belicved to be in
favour of acccptance and the rumour spread that the Congress
Working Committec were going to express their readiness to
work both the long-term and the short-term plan. All the
labours of the past twelve weeks—the endless discussions in the
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sweltering heat, the skilful and patient elaboration of a plan
to suit all parties, the drafting and redrafting of statements and
formulas—seemed on the point of being richly rewarded. For
nine years Congress and the League had been engaged in
barren controversy and non-co-operation. Now both were being
successfully shepherded into a Coalition Government and into
a Constituent Assembly which would frame a constitution on
an agrecd basis. A cartoon appeared in the Hindustan Times
showing the Mission packing up to go home under the caption,
‘All’s well that ends well’.

It seemed too good to be true. And it was; for Gandhi had
not been reckoned with. Once again at the critical moment he
arrived on the scene and intervened with decisive and disastrous
effect. Those who were inclined to acquiesce in the omission of
a Congress Muslim from the Interim Government were over-
borne. Congress, being a national party with a Muslim pre-
sident, could not, in Gandhi’s view, agree to such an omission
cven as a temporary expedient and on the Viceroy’s assurance
that it would not be a precedent. It involved a principle which
Congress could not give up. It mattered not that the principle
had ccased to have practical significance now that Jinnah had
won almost all the Muslims to his side. It mattered not that
insistence on it would infuriatc Jinnah, whose co-operation
in any unitary form of government was essential, and would
disrupt, with unpredictable consequences, the delicate web of
negotiations spun by the Cabinet Mission. Such mundane and
commean;sense considerations did not appeal to Gandhi.

When the news sprcad that Congress werc going to reject
the proposals for an Interim Government the dismay in Cabinet
Mission circles was intense, and intcnse too the indignation
against Gandhi. It was he who had wrecked the Cripps Mission
in 1942. Now he had done it again! Under the first shock of
disappointment deliberate maleficence was attributed to him.
This, of course, was mistaken. His influence may have been
baleful, but it was not intended to be so. His advice may have
been unwise, unstatesmanlike and, from the point of view of
preserving India’s unity, absolutely calamitous, but it was given
in good faith and with the best of motives. If he could have been
shown all the grim consequences that were to flow from it he
would perhaps have said, as he had said on a previous occasion,
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that he had not the remotest idea of any such catastrophe
resulting from it. Following the promptings of an inner voice
he was all too often careless of consequences—until they over-

took him. In this case they were to overtake him with a
vefigeance!

With the rejection of the short-term proposals by Congress
the last chance of an agreement which might have averted
partition was thrown away. This is clear how; but it was not
fully apparent at the time; for hope revived when it became
known that Congress, while rejecting the proposals for an
Interim Government, had at last made up their minds to
accept the long-term constitutional proposals. Something, at
least, seemed to have been sccured.

The acceptance when it came was qualified and ambiguous.

It was conveyed in a long letter dated June 25th from the
President, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, to the Viceroy. ‘We

have pointed out’, the letter ran, ‘what in our opinion were the
defecus of the proposals. We also gave our interpretation of some
of the provisions of the statement’—which the Mission had
firmly repudiated. ‘While adhering to our views we accept

your proposals and are prepared to work them with a view to
achieve our objective.’

This might mean—and could always, if necessary, be claimed
to mean—that they accepted the proposals only on their inter-
pretation of them. But the Mission in their distress and dis-
appointment were preparcd to clutch at any convenient straws.
This ambiguous acceptance, if not too closcly scanned, gave
ground for hope and also got them out of an embhsr.assing
dilemma; for in default of acceptance by Congress of the con-
stitutional plan they would have been plainly bound, in accord-
ance with paragraph 8 of the announcement of June 16th, to
form an Interim Government omitting Congress representatives
altogether. But now they could find a way of wriggling out of
any awkward obligation to go ahead with the League alone.
Treating, therefore, the Congress’s decision as a real accept-
ance, they came out with a statement on June 26th expressing
their happiness that ‘constitution-making can now proceed
with the consent of the two major parties’. The failure to form
an Interim Government was, they said, regrettable; but, after
a short interval, renewed efforts would be made by the Viceroy
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to bring such a Government into being ‘in accordance with
paragraph eight of the statement of June 16th’. They themselves
would leave India on June 2qgth.

The few days before their departure were filled with acri-
monious controversy. Jinnah, as soon as he knew that Congress
had rejected the proposals for an Interim Government, had
quickly got the Working Committee of the League to accept
them. He then clalmed, with somec apparent justification, that
the Viceroy was bound by paragraph 8 of the statement of
June 16th to ignore the Congress and proceed at once to form
a government with representatives of the League and of such
other parties as were willing to join. The plea that as both major
parties had accepted the statement of May 16th, negotiations
for an Interim Government had to be taken up de novo, had
been dishonestly ‘concocted by the lcgalistic talents of the
Cabinet Mission’. He roundly charged the Viceroy and the
Mission with breach of faith and cuttingly observed ‘States-
men should not eat their words’.

So the Mission ended in disappointment, tinged with resent-
ment; for 1t was to the accompaniment of Jinnah’s taunts and
reproaches that the three Cabinct Ministers took their de-
parture. This public controversy bclied the hopes expressed that
constitution-making would go forward speedily in a spirit of
accommodation. The real situation was truly mirrored not in
Sir Stafford’s cheerful smiles but in the woebegone face of
Lord Pethick Lawrcence as he stood at the airport waiting to
emplane. Threc months in the heat of India seemed to have
aBedms {en years.

Within a fortnight of the Mission’s departure all that re-
mained of their precarious card-house had collapsed in irre-
trievable ruin. Gandhi, by persuading the Working Gommittee
to reject the interim proposals, had already knocked down half
of it. Nehru now proceeded to demolish the rest. At a press
conference on July 10th he said that Congress, in accepting the
Cabinet Mission’s long-term plan, ‘have agreed to go into the
Constituent Assembly and have agreed to nothing else . . . we
have committed ourselves to no single matter to anybody’.
Thus the basic structure of the constitution, including the strict
limitation of federal subjects, and the procedure to be followed
by the Constituent Assembly, all of which formed part of the
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long-term proposals ostensibly accepted by Congress, had in
reality not been accepted at all. In regard to Grouping, which
the Mission had specifically stated to be an essential feature of
their plan, Nehru expressed the view that ‘the big probability
is that . . . there will be no Grouping’. The reasons which he
gave showed complete disregard for the Cabinet Mission’s
intentions as to the manner of voting in the Sections.! Con-
temptuously brushing the Mission aside he declared that what
they thought or intended did not enter into the matter at all!

Jinnah retorted at once, and with some justice, that Nehru’s
interpretation of the acceptance as amounting to nothing more
.than an agreement to go into the Constituent Assembly was a
‘complcte repudiation of the basic form upon which the long-
term scheme rests and all its fundamentals and terms and
obligations’. It was clcar, he said, that the Congress’s so-called
‘acceptance’ of the long-term plan had bcen from the outset
disingenuous—thcy had never intended to honour it. Since
this was their attitude, since they did not really intend to abide
by the plan or to work it in a spirit of compromise and co-
opcration, but rather to use their majority in the Constituent
Assembly to enforce their own views, the Muslim League would
have to reconsider the situation.

This they did at the end of the month. At a meeting held in
Bombay they decided to withdraw their previous acceptance
of the long-term plan and to preparc a programme of ‘direct
action’ for the achicvement of Pakistan to be launched as and
when necessary. ‘This day’, Jinnah announced, ‘we bid good-
bye to constitutional methods.’ v

Nothing was now left of the Cabinet Mission’s fragile edifice
and, try as he might over the next six months, Lord Wavell
was unable to rcconstruct it. Congress could not be brought to
dcclare unequivocally their acceptance of thc long-term pro-
posals in the sensc that the League understood them and the
Cabinet Mission had intended them; while Jinnah and the
Lecague would be content with nothing less. There was thus no
agreed basis for constitution-making and hence no prospect of
co-opceration. There had never in reality been any agreement at
all, but only the illusion of one.

The League’s withdrawal of their acceptance of the long-

1 See footnote on page 51.
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term plan, though it meant that they would take no part in the
Constituent Assembly, simplified in some ways the formation
of an Interim Government. It was decided, though with a good
deal of misgiving, to go ahead without them, and accordingly
on August 6th the Viceroy wrote to Nehru—who had recently
succeeded Azad as Congress President—inviting him to form a
government. The invitation was accepted.

Before the new*government had taken office or the names of
its members had been announced, the first fruits of the Cabinet
Mission’s failure were being gathered. On August 16th, which
the Muslim League celebrated as ‘Direct Action Day’, there
was an appalling outbreak of rioting in Calcutta, lasting
several days. According to official estimates about 5,00c persons
were killed and 15,000 injured. Compared with what was to
follow this holocaust was nothing extraordinary, but it made
a deep impression at the time. People had not yet become
hardened to mass slaughter.

There was widespread criticism of the Muslim League
Government of Bengal and its Chief Minister, Mr. Suhrawardy.
Against all advice they had dcclared ‘Direct Action Day’ a
public holiday and, though warned of the likclihood of trouble,
had apparently not taken adequatc precautions. After the rioting
had started, there was an unaccountable dclay in imposing a
curfew and calling 'in troops. The British Governor remained
imperturbable but inactive. Charged under the Constitution of
1935 with a spccial responsibility for preventing any grave
menace to the peace and tranquillity of the province, his duty
Seemed to require that he should intcrvene promptly to remedy
the negligences of the Bengal Government and suppress these
terrible disorders. He did not do so. During the next yecar this
apparent example of supineness was to be copied by others in
humbler stations.

In these riots the Muslims had been the aggressors; but after
the first day or two the non-Muslim populatian, spear-hcaded
by the Sikh taxi-drivers of Calcutta, retaliated vigorously,
giving as good as they got, and in the end perhaps ncither party
could claim any very decided advantage. The disturbances,
however, spread to East Bengal where the Muslims were in a
considerable majority. Dacca was at first the centre of dis-
order, but in October there were serious outbreaks of Muslim
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hooliganism in the remoter districts of Noakhali and Tipperah.
The killings were not on a vast scale, running into hundreds
rather than thousands, but there was much destruction and
pillage of Hindu property and abduction of Hindu women.

Numbers of Hindus, fleeing in terror from the affected areas,
arrived in Bihar. Their tales of woe, luridly written up by the
local press, so excited popular fecling that now in Bihar there
was a massacre of Muslims by Hindus. Severfal thousands were
killed, in many instances in peculiarly revolting and barbarous
circumstancces. There was no knowing where this chain reaction
would end. ‘We arc not yet in the midst of civil war,” Gandhi
declared, ‘but we arc nearing it.’

The Viceroy thought that the dangers of the situation would
be lessened if the League could be brought into the Interim
Government. He also had reason to believe that the League
would oncc again accept the long-term proposals and enter the
Constituent Assembly if Congress would unequivocally agree to
grouping as contemplated in the statement of May 16th. He
strove hard to bring the two parties to terms and his efforts
seemed partially successful when in the middle of October
Jinnah agreed that five nominees of the Lcague should join the
Government. They took office on October 26th.

Congress werc not too satisfied with the new arrangements.
They wanted to be assured that the L.eague would rescind their
Bombay resolution and enter the Constituent Assembly, and
that the Leaguc representatives in the Interim Government
would really co-operate with the other members and try to
work as a team. On both points the Viceroy obtained from
Jinnah qualified assuranccs, but the Congress felt that not much
reliance could be placed on them.

The country at large, not fully aware of all the inner dis-
cords, hailed the Leaguc’s entry into the Government with
relief; and its i1immediate effects were tranquillizing. But it
soon became apparcnt that Jinnah’s assurances were of no
value. The League had entcred the Government not to co-
operatc with Congress but simply to prevent Congress from
tightening its hold on the whole governmental machine at the
League’s expense. The Interim Government became in fact a
dual government. There was, as Liagqat Ali Khan put 1t, ‘a
Congress bloc and a Muslim bloc, each functioning under
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separate leadership’. Each began to attract to itself its own sup-
portersfrom among the civilservants and tobuild upitsown separ-
ate and exclusive empire. As a Coalition Government it was a
farce.

There was also no progress in regard to the League’s
entry into the Constituent Assembly. It was originally intended
that this body should begin its work early in September but the
Viceroy had postponed summoning it owing to the League’s
unwillingness to participate. Postponement could not, however,
go on indefinitely and the Viceroy, under considerable pres-
sure from Congress, fixed December gth for the first meeting.
Would the Mushm League delegates attend? Jinnah, despite
his assurances to the Viceroy, took no steps to call a mecting
of the Council of the League to reconsider the Bombay resolu-
tion and when urged to do so contended that such a course was
futile so long as the Congress themselves declined to accept un-
equivocally the statement of May 16th. He strongly advised
the Viceroy to postpone the Constituent Assembly sine die.
Invitations were, however, 1ssued for December gth; whereupon
Jinnah directed the Muslim League representatives not to attend.

In a desperate last-minute bid to bring about agreement
before the Constituent Assembly mct, the British Prime Minis-
ter now invited the leaders of Congress and the I.cague, and
Baldev Singh as representative of the Sikhs, to come to London
for discussions. The field of disagreement had by this time been
narrowed down, as Congress had reluctantly accepted that
provinces could not ab initio refuse to take part in the work of
the Sections in which they had been placed. The main point at
issue was whether i1n the Sections the voting was to be by pro-
vinces, as Congress contended, or by simple majority vote of
those present, as the League claimed and as the Cabinet
Mission had intended. No agreement was reached, but the
British Government issued a statement on December 6th up-
holding the latter interpretation and urging Congress to accept
it ‘in order that the way may be open for the Muslim League to
reconsider their attitude’.

Congress responded. At the instance of Nehru and despite
considerable opposition the All-India Congress Committee
passed a resolution agreeing ‘to advise action in accordance
with the interpretation of the British Government in regard to
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the procedure to be followed in the sections’. There was a
caveat to the effect that this must not involve any compulsion
of a province and that the rights of the Sikhs in the Punjab
would not be jeopardized. Nevertheless it was perhaps as near
to a genuine acceptance of the original proposals of May 16th as
could be expected.

Alas, second thoughts had come too late! If only Congress
leaders had adopted this attitude in July instead of petulantly
asserting that they had committed themselves to nothing and
that the intentions of the Cabinet Mission and British Govern-
ment werc of no consequence, the Muslim League would have
"had no occasion to resile from their acceptance of the plan and
all the discords, disorders and massacres of the past six months
could have becen avoided. But now the League had hardened
their hearts. Convinced of Congress’s fundamental insincerity,
thcy wcre not prepared to swallow any caveats. Moreover,
whatever the All-India Congress Committee might resolve,
Gandhi had bcen talking in quite a different strain. Consulted
by some Assam Congressmen on the subject of grouping he had
sald: ‘I do not need a single minute to come to a decision. . . .
If there 1s no clecar guidance from the Congress Committee
Assam should not go into Scctions. It should lodge its protest
and rctire from the Constituent Assembly. .. . I have the same
advice for the Sikhs.” With Gandhi tendering such advice the
League could reasonably conclude that, on the strength of his
authority, both the Hindus of Assam and the Sikhs of the Pun-
jab would rcfuse to co-opcrate in the work of their respective
Sections. In these circumstances the League decided that the
qualifying clauses of the Congress resolution corhpletely nulli-
ficd their acceptance of the British Government’s statement of
December 6th. They therefore flatly declincd to reconsider
their own Bombay resolution.

A dangcrous crisis was now approaching. The League
representatives had becn taken into the Interim Government
on the understanding that thc Bombay resolution would be
rescinded and that the League delegates would attend the
Constituent Assembly. It was now clear that the League would
not carry out their part of the bargain. There was, therefore,
a demand for the resignation of the League representatives
from the Interim Government; and the Congress members
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soon made it plain that they would themselves resign if the
League members were retained.

Either alternative was fraught with alarming possibilities.
If the Congress members withdrew, the British, with League
support, might have to hold down forcibly the whole of Hindu
India. On the other hand the extrusion of the League repre-
sentatives from the Ccntral Government would be the signal
for fresh communal disorders which might lead to a virtual
state of civil war; for there was a danger now that the army and
services would begin to takc sides. The British Government
would then be compelled cither to restore order by British
arms—and this would involve reassertion of British dominance
for at least ten to fifteen years—or to scuttle ignominiously from
an anarchic situation.

Physically the reassertion of British authority would not have
been very difficult; but politically and psychologically it was
quite impracticable—neither British opinion nor world opinion
would have tolerated it or pcrmitted the necessary measures to
be taken. The L.abour Government rightly ruled it out. But
some fresh move had to be made. Drift and delay could only
lead to chaos. So they took a bold decision. On February 20th
the Prime Minister, Mr. Attlee, announced 1n the House of
Commons that it was His Majesty’s Government’s ‘definite
intention to take the necessary steps to eflect the transference of
power to respon51blc Indian hands by a date not latcer than
June 1948°. All parties werc urged to sink their differences—
it was no doubt hoped that the mere fixing of a date so close
at hand would shock them into some kind of agrcemcnt—but
lack of agreement would not cause any postponement of the
date. If it appearcd that by the date fixed a fully representative
Constituent Assembly would not have worked out a constitu-
tion in accordance with the Cabinet Mission’s proposals, His
Majesty’s Government would have to consider ‘to whom the
powers of the Central Government in British~India should be
handed over, on the due date, whether as a whole to some form
of Central Government for British India, or in some arcas to the
existing Provincial Governments, or in such other way as may
seem most reasonable and in the best interests of the Indian
people’.

This announcement meant Partition, and Partition within
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the next seventeen months, Whatever London might think,
everyone in Delhi knew that the Cabinet Mission’s proposals
were as dead as mutton. No constitution would be framed on
their basis; and owing to the Hindu-Muslim feud there would
be no Central Government capable of exercising authority
over the whole of British India to whom the powers of the
existing Government of India could be transfcrred The power
which the British held would have to be divided in order to be
demitted, as indeed Mr. Attlee’s statement itself vaguely
foreshadowcd. The British Government and Gandhi might
perhaps still delude themselves with the hope of a united
"independent India; but for others it had faded from sight. As
Sir Syed Ahmad had foreseen years earlier, two nations—
Muslim and Hindu—could not sit on the same throne.

‘Thus nine months of strenuous British endeavour to preserve
unity had led only to the inevitability of Partition. This de-
plorable outcome is not attributable, as the foregoing account
might suggest, simply or even mainly to Gandhi’s ill-starred
interventions or Nehru’s fits of arrogant impatience. At critical
moments they may have given an adverse turn to events and
thereby occasioned a result which ncither of them desired. But
the reasons for the failure to agree on some form of united India
lay deeper. The truth is that the aims and aspirations of the
two communities, as expressed by those whom they acclaimed
their leaders, were irreconcilable; and, as it turned out in the
end, their professed aims were also their real ones. The Con-
gress leaders wanted a strong united India; the League a
divided or divisible one. The Congress aim had never been in
doubt and accurately reflected the wishes of th® Hindu com-
munity. The League’s aim, only proclaimed in 1940, may not
have reflected any real or rational wish of the Muslim multitude,
but at least accorded with their blind impulses. Instinctively
they had rallied to Jinnah, deserting other leaders; and Jinnah,
whatever his original views, had by now, rightly or wrongly,
come to regard ‘a sovereign independent Pakistan’, actual or at
least permanently potential, as an indispensable Muslim need.

This deep difference of aim could not be bridged by a
flimsy paper scheme, such as the Cabinet Mission had devised.
Both parties, in so far as they accepted it at all, avowedly did
so in order to achieve their own objectives—and these were
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contradictory. This being so, even if constitution-making had
begun, it could hardly have got very far; and even if a con-
stitution, such as the Cabinet Mission envisaged, had some-
how come into being, it could hardly have worked for very
long.

Jinnah at an early stage became convinced that the Congress
would never tolerate the weak, easily divisible Union of India
such as he desired. And it gradually dawned on the Congress
leaders, especially after their experience of the attitude of the
League representatives in the Interim Government, that the
price which the League would exact for preserving unity would
be too high. They would insist on strong States or groups of
States with divergent interests and outlook and a weak Federal
Centre which would be paralysed by its own internal com-
munal divisions and quite incapable of tackling India’s enor-
mous problems of poverty, illiteracy and outmoded social cus-
toms. Rather than commit the whole country to this it would
be better to lop some of the branches from the main trunk—
to let Jinnah and the League take the areas which they could
indisputably claim. This was the mood to which most of the
Congress leaders had come by the beginning of 1947.

The labours of nine months were not, therefore, wholly in
vain. They had at.any rate brought home to cveryone, except
perhaps Gandhi, the necessity of Partition. But Partition was a
major operation which, even if agreed to by the party leaders,
was bound to entail much shedding of blood.



IV

The Mountbatten Plan

had announced that with ‘the opening of a new and final
phase in India’ there would be a change of Viceroy. Lord
Wavell, the silent, war-scarred, middle-class soldier, would give
place to Lord Mountbatten, charming, brilliant, aristocratic, and
asailor. It was a change and a contrast and gave rise to some ques-
tioning. Lord Wavell had not resigned; he had been sacked. Why?

No clear answer was given. The rugged old veteran’s honesty
and straightforwardncss had not always endeared him to Con-
gress circles and some members of the Labour Government,
ever more reccptive of the Congress than the League point of
view, considered, perhaps unfairly, that he had developed a
League bias. In any case for this final phase qualities were
needed different from and perhaps more glittering than the
sterling virtues of I.ord Wavell. In selectingsl.ord Mountbatten
to wind up British rule the Labour Government could hardly
have made a happier choice.

Lord Mountbatten reached Delhi on March 22nd. He had
received instructions to work for a Unitary Government for .
India on the basis of the Cabinet Mission plan. Only if by
October 1947 he found that there was no prospect of reaching
a settlement on these lines was he expected to put forward alter-
native proposals for the transfer of power. Within a few days
he grasped that these instructions were out of date and that all
talk of a Unitary Government and the Cabinet Mission plan
was now vain. Some alternative plan had to be devised and
acted upon, not in leisurely fashion some six months later, but
forthwith; otherwise anarchy might set in before power and
authority could be transmitted to other hands.

The Central Government was by this time hopelessly divided
against itself with League and Congress Ministers openly work-
ing against each other. Communal rioting of unprecedented

C 65

I N the course of his statement of February 2oth, Mr. Attlee



66 DIVIDE AND QUIT

severity had broken out early in March in the principal towns
of the Punjab and had spread in some places to the rural areas.
Soon the fires of frcnzy were lapping over into the North-West
Frontier Province. In parts of the country it seemed that law
and order would break down altogether.

After one false start, which might havc proved calamitous,
Lord Mountbatten produced a plan for the partition of the
country to which all the principal parties were willing to agree.
He owed this plan to the knowledge and insight of his Reforms
\Secretary, Mr. V. P. Menon. His own tact and persuasiveness
helped to secure 1ts general acceptance. Its main outlines were
communicated in strict sccrecy to the party leaders in the middle
of May and their concurrence in principle obtained. The
British Government’s approval was then sought and on June
grd it was publicly announced and publicly accepted by
Nehru, Jinnah and Baldev Singh.

In esscnce the plan was simple. The country was to be
divided into two dominions, known as India and Pakistan;
but Pakistan was to be of the truncated ‘contiguous area’
variety involving the partition of both the Punjalh and Bengal,
which Jinnah had hitherto always spurned. In order to give to
this division of the country the seal of democratic approval
diverse and somewhat complicated arrangements were to be
made for recording the popular will in the Muslim-majority
provinces. The 1ssue to be put to them was whether they should
join the existing Constituent Assembly or an altogether new
Constituent Assembly which would frame a constitution for a
separate dominion of Pakistan.?

P

1 In Sind this issue was to be voted upon by the provincial legislature.
In the North-West Frontier Province (where the pro-Congress ‘ Red Shirts’
were in a majority in the legislature) it was to be decided by a refcrendum.
In Bengal and the Punjab the Legislative Assemblies were first each to meet
as a whole and vote on this issue on the assumption that the Province would
not be divided. (It was expected that in each casc the small Muslim majority
would turn the scales in favour of joining a new Constituent Assembly.)
Thereafter they were each to meet in two parts, one representing the Muslim-
majority districts according to the 1941 census figures and the other the rest
of the Province. These two parts would then vote separately on whether the
Province should be partitioned. If either part by a simple majority voted for
partition, then the Province would be divided. The two parts of the Legisla-
tive Assemblies would also decide on behalf of the areas which they repre-
sented whether to join India or Pakistan.
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On the assump ion that the voting in the Muslim-majority
provinces would rndorse the division of the country, arrange-
ments werc to be initiated as quickly as possible for dividing
the armed forces and the administrative services and the assets
and liabilitics of the Central Government between the respec-
tive successor authoritics and for carrying out a similar division
in respect of the provinces of Bengal and the Punjab.

For the actual partition of thesc two provincd}, in the cvent of
Partition being dccided upon, a Boundary Commission was to
be set up. The Commission would be instructed to demarcate
the boundaries of the two parts of Bengal and the Punjab on
the basis of ascertaining the contiguous majority areas of
Muslims and non-Muslims, and also fo take into account other
Jfactors.

It was also proposcd to anticipatc the date for the transfer of
power and to bring it forward {from June 1948 to some date
in 1947. At a press conference on June 4th Lord Mountbatten
suggested that this might be August 15th.

The plan was acclaimed not only in India but throughout the
world; and with all its defccts and grim promise of bloodshed—
the certainty of which thosc at the summit did not realize—
it was perhaps the best that could be devised. Certainly no-one
either then or later was able to suggest agvthing better. Yet
only a year earlier the Cabinet Mission had given cogent
arguments! against a settlement based on a ‘truncated’ Paki-
stan. They had pointed out that it was not in accord with
Muslim wishes, that the radical partition ot the Punjab and
Bengal which it involved would be ‘contrary to the wishes and
interests of a very large proportion of the inhabitants of these
Provinces’ and that it would necessarily divide the Sikhs. No-
one had controverted these arguments, but now all parties,
including the Sikhs, acquicsced in this solution.

Of all the partics principally concerned the Congress perhaps
had least difficudty in accepting the plan. Congress leaders
realized that the mood of the Mushims was now so hostile that
even if the British transferrcd the authority of the Centre to a
purely Congress Government, their writ would simply not run
in the extreme west and extrcme east of the country where
Muslims predominated. To gain control of those areas force

1 See page 47.



68 DIVIDE AND QUIT

would have to be supplied from the Centrc and this would
mean civil war. Thus at the very outset of independence they
would be plunged into squalid, fratricidal strife which might
see most of them into their graves. They would have to say
good-bye to all their cherished ambitions of building up a
strong, united, progressive India, frce from the shackles of an
outworn social system and capable of playing a part in the
councils of the world. Rather than this it was better to scver
completely from Mother India those stubborn Muslim arecas
that disowned her. They were willing to pay this price provided

Jinnah and the Leaguc werc not permitted to carry away too
much. The plan by providing for the partition of Bengal and
the Punjab satisficd them on this score.

For Jinnah the plan was a bitter pill. He had always rcjected
a truncated Pakistan and only a few wecks earlier had described
the proposal for the partition of Bengal and the Punjab as ‘a
sinister move actuated by spitc and bitterness’. But he had to
bow to facts and logic. Logically the very principle on which he
demanded the division of India justified the partition of these
two Muslim-majority provinces. Bound by this logic the British
Government, he knew, would never be party to cocrcing large
unwilling minorities into joining Pakistan. And he and the
League had not the strength to coerce them; physically he could
not posscss himself of East Punjab and West Bengal unless the
majority of the inhabitants willingly attached themsclves to
Pakistan. But why should they? The League had done abso-
lutely nothing to make Pakistan appear attractive to them.
On the contrary in Calcutta Suhrawardy’s League Government
had quite failed to prevent an onslaught on the Hindus and
subsequently in East Bengal Hindus had been plundcred and
terrorized. In the Punjab the story had becen much the same.
The League, after its success in the provincial elections, made
no effort to conciliate and rcassure the Sikhs and declined even
to discuss their future. Throughout 1946 thcy wcre cold-
shouldered or reviled and later—as will shortly be narrated—
they were murderously assaulted and held up to ridicule.

So by their inexplicable acts and omissions Jinnah and the
League were debarred from getting by agreement the Pakistan
of their conception; and they were not strong enough to seize
it by force. Once or twice Jinnah raised the question of an
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exchange of population. If all the Muslims in India could be
concentrated he could legitimately obtain the whole area which
he coycted. But he did not press the suggestion and perhaps felt
that it was impracticable and might even lead to his own dis-
credit. For how would the populations be induced to move?
What except brute force or overwhelming fear would drive non-
Muslims to leave their ancestral homesin Bengsl and the Punjab
to make room for incoming Muslims? And would the lure of Pakis-
tan be suflicient to impel Muslims from all over India to migrate
to that doubtful El Dorado? Jinnah may have foresecn that his
own people would be liable to rcpudiate the promised land.

Whatcver may have been his reasons, Jinnah never made the
planned exchange of population a live issue, and being by now
deeply committed to Pakistan in some form he had perforce to
accept it in such form as he could get it. As far back as Novem-
ber he had told Lord Wavell that the British should give the
Musiims their own bit of country, however small it might be,
and they would live there, if necessary on one meal a day! This
tallied with the views of his political henchmen and of the
ambitious Muslim civil servants who were secretly abetting
them. To these men, avid of power, even a small dunghill was
better than none at all.

For the Sikhs the plan mcant division. *They knew 1t, they
accepted it and privily they had their own plans for meeting 1t.
The hard choice before them had long been clear. They had to
submit either to inclusion as a whole in Pakistan or to division
between India and Pakistan through partition of the Punjab.
‘They had choscen the latter.! They had long been thinking in
terms of Partition and the recent conduct of the Muslims had
strengthencd their preference for it. Incvitably by such Parti-
tion they would be split and if the ‘contiguous area’ principle
were to be rigidly applied all the canal colonies and about two
million Sikhs would fall to Pakistan. But the Boundary Com-
mission was also to take into account ‘other factors’ and the
Sikhs clung to the hope that on thc strength of these ‘other

1 Some of the Akalis had been canvassing the 1dea of an entirely separate
Sikh State of ‘Khalistan’. Since they were not in an absolute majority in
even a single district no one could take this idea seriously; but in one guise or
another it had some influence on Sikh thinking both in the coming months
and in the coming years.
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factors’ the boundary might be shifted westwards so that they
would not be split so badly. They were encouraged in this false
hope by the ill-advised utterances of some British politicians.

For the British Government, as for everyone else, the plan
was very much of a pus aller; but they could not dissent from
what Congress, the L.eague and the Sikhs were all ready to
accept. They recognized that sincc agreement on the Cabinet
Mission plan had proved unattainable, Partition was the in-
evitable alternative. Churchill on beha.lf of the Opposition
gave assurances of support.

So with a quite unprecedented unanimity all set forth to-
gether on a path leading straight to mass slaughter. In Bengal
this end was a dangerous? possibility, in the Punjab an absolute
certainty. Fortunatcly for the peace of mind of those who led
the way none of them, except Baldev Singh, knew much about
the Punjab and so they did not realizc what was comlng
British officials of the Punjab were not in that happy position.
They were aware of an impending calamity which they were
powerless to avert.

1 Disaster was avcerted in Bengal largely through the influence of Gandhi.
The Muslim leaguer, Mr. Suhrawardy, also fell temporarily under his spell
and became a peacemaker.
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The Punjab and Partition

how it had ariscn it is nccessary to go back a little. It will
be recalled that at the clections at the beginning of
1946 Khizar and the Unionist Party suffered a crushing defeat
and the Muslim League cmerged as the strongest single party
with seventy-nine scats in a housc of 175. But not having an
absolute majority the Lecaguc alone could not form a Ministry,
and the cxtreme, uncompromising attitude which they had
adopted during the clections precluded them for the time being
{from obtaining support from clsewhere. In the circumstances it
was expected that the Governor would temporarily take over
the administration undecr Scction g3 of the Government of
India Act until a stable Ministry could be formed. With time,
patience and discrect promises of loaves and fishes the League
would probably have succeeded in winning over a sufficient
number of members to secure a majority. But a cardinal crror
was now made. Baldev Singh induced Khizar to head a Coali-
tion Ministry supported by Congress Hindus. Akali Sikhs and
his own nine Muslim followers. Khizar, by all accounts reluc-
tantly and after much persuasion, agreced and the Governor,
Sir Bertrand Glancy, passively accepted the armangement.
From the public point of view it was a disaster; and for
Khizar personally it was political suicide. In every Punjab
Ministry since the first beginnings of provincial self-government
the Muslims had played the leading part, as their numbers en-
titled them to do. Now for the first time, on the eve of indc-
pendence, a predominantly non-Muslim Government was being
installed in power. The Muslim League, fresh from their
triumph at the elections and fully expecting to form a Ministry
themselves, found themselves totally excluded by an undreamed
of combination of Congress banias, Khizar and the Sikhs. Not
only the League but the whole Muslim community felt outraged
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T o understand thc menacing situation in the Punjab and
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and affronted. This unnatural and unholy alliance seemed
to have been designed, with the connivance of the British
Governor, simply to keep them from power. It was an ex-
ample of just the thing that Jinnah always feared and that had
prompted the demand for Pakistan. In a united India the wily
Hindus would always succeed in this manner in attaching to
themselves a section of the Muslims and using them to defeat
the larger interests of the community. Khizar, despite his
past record and reputation, was now representcd as a traitor,
clinging to power and office without regard for Muslim
interests.

Sore and resentful the Muslim League now had a real
grievance with which to inflame Muslim feeling. Communal
relations in the province, already bad, became still further em-
bittered and the mere existence of the Coalition Government
made any sort of reconciliation impossible. If it had not been
formed and the Leaguc lecaders had been left with some hope
of office, they would have been compclled, just in order to gain
it, to adopt a more conciliatory attitude to the minorities;
and once installed in power and made responsiblc for the pcace
and well-being of the whole province, they would have
been less tempted than they were now deliberatcly to stir up
strife. As 1t was, there was no inducement to them to seek
the path of peace and come to terms with parties which,
they felt, had combined to defraud them of their just claim to
- office.

It was amazing that the Governor acquiesced without the
slightest struggle in the formation of a Ministry so harmful to
the public integests. But it had become easy and fashionable in
these days to evade responsibility on the plea of constitutional-
ism. His apologists have certainly taken this plea and pointed
out that since Khizar was willing and able to form a Ministry,
he had no option, as a constitutional Governor, but to let him
do so. True, yet utterly removed from the real truth. For Khizar
was no stranger with whom it might be necessary for him to
stand on ceremony. From the day when he assumed office as
Governor in April 1941 hc and Khizar had bcen in almost
daily contact. Though as a constitutional Governor he was
bound in the last resort to let Khizar form a Ministry if he so
insisted, there was nothing to preclude him from talking to
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Khizar as man to man and throwing all the weight of his influ-
ence and advice against such a course. In view of Khizar’s own
hesitations a few words of discouragement from the Governor,
who was known to be his well-wisher, must have turned the
scale against it. But the words were not spoken. The Governor
took the easy, strictly constitutional line of least resistance and
left his successor, who took office a few weeks later, and the
province at large to reap the consequences.

Ironically enough the Sikander-Baldev Singh pact, designed
to bring the Sikh and Muslim communities closer together, was
indirectly responsible for this lamentable political arrangement
which was bound to drive them apart; for it was Baldev Singh’s
association with Khizar as a colleague in the Punjab Ministry
that enabled this new ill-starred coalition to be formed. An
alliance between the Akalis and Khizar was a boon to the Pro-
vince so long as he stood at the head of a Unionist party which
commanded the allegiance of most of the Muslims; but it could
only be a curse when he had become a renegade at the head of
a rump. Thus in the end the pact proved a snare.

Several of Khizar’s friends, too late to prevent him from
putting himself in a false position, were anxious that he should
withdraw from it as quickly as possible. A senior British official
urged him, soon after he had taken office, to resign straight away
before he had hopelessly compromiscd himself in the eyes of
his own community. I argued to the same effect with two of
his henchmen, who visited Delhi in April, and the discussion
went on until the small hours of the morning. I dwelt not only
on the embitterment of communal feeling, but also on the irre-
parable damage to Khizar’s own reputation which must result
from his continuance in officc. The Muslim community, I said,
would never forgive him if he appeared to cling to power in
defiance of Muslim interests and wishes. His party had been
decisively defeated at the clections. However regrettable that
might be from the point of view of the real interests both of the
Muslims and the Punjab, the best course was to accept the
defeat with patience and dignity and lie low for the time being.
The ambitious and inexperienced young men who had come to
the front as lcaders of the League in the Punjab were bound to
make a mess of things. After a few years the Muslim masses
would turn back to Khizar with relief as a tried elder statesman,

c*
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provided he did not now brand himself as a traitor in their eyes
and so permanently antagonize them.

My arguments seemed to make some impression on his two
supporters but did not convince them. They felt that the reins
of power—one of them was a Minister in Khizar’s new Govern-
ment—should not be voluntarily surrendered. ‘We have a
‘““danda”! in our hand,’ they kept repeating, ‘and mustn’t
give it up’; and i¢¥ was with these words that they finally parted
from me.

But the ‘danda’ was in reality only a broken reed; for the
Punjab police force was about 75 per cent Muslim and in the
hands of a predominantly non-Muslim Government, con-
fronted with a mass Muslim movement, could not be fully
relied upon. Here was another fatal defect in the political
arrangement that had been made in the Punjab. In times of
stress and communal tension any Punjab Government not
enjoying substantial Muslim backing was liable to find itself
in a precarious position. Khizar’s Government not only had
no such backing but, relying largely on the support of Hindu
bamas, was itsclf a standing oftence to the Muslims of the
Punjab. In any show-down with the Muslim Lcaguc Khizar’s
Government, so far from being able to wield a ‘danda’, would
be impotent, unless it called in outside military aid and pro-
claimed martial law.

During the period of acute tension that followed the failurc
of the Cabinet Mission, Khizar’s Government remained uneasily
in the saddle. Though there were isolated communal incidents,
there was no widespread outbreak of violence in the Punjab
such as occurred in Bengal and Bihar. But this outward tran-
quillity deceived no-one. All the three major communities—
Muslims, Hindus and Sikhs—were collecting arms and getting
ready for open war. As the prospects of a Congress-League
agreemcent for a united India receded, the certainty of violence
in the Punjab increased. Towards the end ok December the
Executive Officer? of the Amritsar municipality was to be
found busily repairing the municipal hose-pipes. When ques-
tioned on this unwonted activity he replied: ‘ The city will soon
be in flames. I’m making such preparations as I can.” His fore-

1 Stick.
2 The late P. C. Bhandari.
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sight was unerring, but the hose-pipes, even when repaired,
werc insufficient.

On 24th January 1947 Khizar’s Government took a decisive
but fatal step. Alarmed at the collection of arms by various
private volunteer bodies, operating under the direction of

political parties, they dcclared the Muslim League National
Guards and the Rashtriya Swayam Sewak Sangh—an extreme

and militant Hindu organization—unlawful bodies under the
Criminal Law Amendment Act. Simultaneously the police
raided the hcadquarters of the National Guards in Lahore and
began a search of the premises.

‘The Muslim Leaguc leaders were quick to see their chance.
About half a dozen of them hurried to the National Guards
hcadquarters while the search was in progress and courted
arrcst by obstructing the police. They were taken into custody.

The fat was now in the firc. The Punjab Government had
inadvertently offecred a challenge to the League without the
streugth 1o go through with it. News of the arrest of the League
lcaders spread through the city like wild-fire. There were de-
monstrations by Muslim mobs and mecetings in mosques to
condemn the action of the Punjab Government. Most unwisely
the Punjab Government had at an carlier date issued general
orders prohibiting mecetings and processiong in all the principal
towns of the province. Such general orders usually lead to
trouble. Their enforcement often unnecessarily precipitates the
very disturbances they are designed to avert, while their non-
enforcement brings government into conter.pt. The Punjab
Government had developed the bad habit of promulgating
these general bans. The Muslim l.eague took advantage of the
mistake. On the day of the arrest of the Leaguc leaders Mushim
demonstrations in Lahorec had been half-heartedly broken up
by the police. The next day the League decided systematically
to defy the bans. The authoritics, not daring to interfere and
break up meetimgs and processions by force, contented them-
sclves with making a few arrests and sought to casc the situation
by appcasement. On the 26th the League leaders who had been
arrested in Lahore were relcased and on the 28th the orders
declaring the Muslim National Guards and the Rashtriya
Swayam Scwak Sangh unlawful were rescinded. But for some
inexplicable reason the Punjab Government, instead of com-
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pleting their climb down by withdrawing the bans on meetings
and processions, continued them in force and continued not to
enforce them. So for the next few weeks Muslim mobs and

gangs of Muslim students amused themselves, much to the
exasperation of the other communitics, with ‘non-violent’
defiance of the bans; while the police looked on and tried to
mitigate this open flouting of authority by occasional arrests.
The hooligan Muslim elements in the big cities perceived all
too clearly the weakness of the Government; the forces of law
and order, not too staunch in any case, became puzzled and
doubtful of what was expected of them.

‘This dangerous farce went on till February 26th when the
Punjab Government climbed down further and came to a
compromise with the Muslim Lcague. The ban on processions
continued in force, but the ban on meetings was withdrawn
and all those arrested in connection with the agitation were
released. The League, on their side, agreed to discontinue the
agitation. Thus with loss of prestige and grave weakening of the
whole fabric of administration, Khizar’s Government extricated
itself from 1its contest with the League. The half-hearted
attempt to promote communal peace by strong measures had
primed the province for an explosion.

Perhaps Khizar guessed what was 1n storc. In any case by
this time he had had enough. The impotence of his Government
had been starkly revealed, and on February 20th Mr. Attlee’s
announcement of the forthcoming withdrawal of British power
had introduced a new factor. Now at last and too late Khizar
realized that the onus of managing the affairs of the Punjab
should be thrown on the party representing the majority com-
munity—the Muslim Lecague. On March 3rd he submitted
the resignation of his Cabinet.

The reasons which he gave to the public for resigning arc
instructive. He said that the decision announced by Mr.
Attlee required that parties in the province ‘should be brought
face to face with realities’. He went on:

‘It is now incumbent on me to leave the ficld clcar for the
Muslim League to come to such arrangements vis-d-vis the
other parties as it might consider in the best interests of the
Muslims and the Province. If I were now to continue to lead
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a Coalition in which the Muslim League is not represented,

this mi.ght put in serious jeopardy such chances as might
otherwise exist of a settlement being arrived at between the
communitics in the Province.’

~ But already all chances of a settlement had been not merely

jeopardized but destroyed. If only he had grasped a year earlier
the truth of what he now said the realitics wold not have been

quite so grim and the Leaguc would have had more time to face
them. He himself might even have been able to exercise a
moderating and conciliatory influence, if he had not cut him-
self adnft from the main body of Muslims by his leadership of
a non-Muslim coalition. As it was, he was nothing now to his
own community. His very lifc was in danger from its members
and he had to bc heavily guarded.

With Khizar’s resignation the pent-up excitement of the
past weeks broke loose. Though there was little or no chance
now of the I.eague being able to form a Ministry, the Governor
had to go through the motions of asking them to do so before
himself assuming control of the administration. The mere
rumour of a T.eague Ministry was suflicient to evoke demon-
strations by the minority communities. The ban on processions
was still in force, but in spite of this on March 4th Bhim Sen
Sachar, the Finance Minister in the outgoing Khizar Govern-
ment, fecling perhaps that non-Muslims should have as much
liberty to defy law as the Muslims had enjoyed in the past
wecks, led a procession to the Assembly Cliumber in Lahore
where he proclaimed to a vast assembled multitude: ‘I, as a
member of the Government, hereby declare ,that you have
every right to take out processions.” The Sikh leader, Master
Tara Singh, raised the slogan ‘Pakistan Murdabad’® and
brandishing a sword shouted, ¢ Raj karega Khalsa, aqt rahe na kov’.?

This foolhardy bravado brought at once its own nemesis. It
touched off violent communal rioting throughout the province
in which Hindus and Sikhs were far the worst sufferers. The
first outbreak took place in Lahore on March 4th imme-
diately after Master Tara Singh’s ill-timed vauntings. It was

1 Down with (death to) Pakistan.
2 The pure (Sikhs) will rule; no resister will remain. (A well-known saying
of Guru Gobind Singh, the tenth and last Sikh Guru.)
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followed in the next couple of days by rioting in Multan,
Rawalpindi and Amritsar and minor disturbances in other
towns. The Muslim mobs, after their weeks of ‘non-violent’
agitation, suddenly, as though on a preconcerted signal, came
out in their true colours and with weapons in their hands and,
in some places, steel helmets on their heads, indulged in murder,
loot and arson on a scale never witnessed before in the Punjab
during a hundretl years of British rule. The minority commun-
ities fought back vigorously wherever they could.

The conflagration in Amritsar was particularly terrific.
'The two principal bazaars were burnt to the ground and several
others partially destroyed. There was looting in practically
every part of the city. So far as I have been able to ascertain,
not a shot was fired by the police while this destruction was in
progress. In Multan many private houses of Hindus were sct on
fire and the inmates had the choice of perishing in the flames
or running the gauntlet of a murderous mob awaiting them
below. Caught in this predicament a promincnt Congress
Muslim, who was staying with a Hindu friecnd, narrowly
escaped with his life by exposing his person as evidence of his
religion. His host was duly done to death.

In the north-west of the province (in the Rawalpindi and
Attock districts) and in the Multan district in the south-west
the trouble spread to the rural arcas. Here the Muslims were in
an overwhelming majority and the minority communities
practically hélpless. The Multan authorities acted vigorously
and by arranging prompt dispatch of military forccs to the
affected areas brought the situation under control before more
than about a hundred casualties had occurred. But in the
Rawalpindi and Attock districts many villages and small towns
were raided by armed gangs of Muslims with heavy loss of life
and property, and it was more than a weck belore large-scale use
of troops began to effect an improvement. The Sikhs! were
especial targets of attack, their houses and their beards alike
being set on fire. Many were killed, many fled, and refugees
began to flock into Rawalpindi for temporary shelter.

1 In this area the Sikhs were for the most part Hindus of the money-
lending and shopkeeping classes, who had embraced Sikhism and grown
beards, rather than peasant cultivators like the majority of the Sikhs in

Central Punjab.
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This foretaste of the blessings of Pakistan was hardly en-
couraging to the minority communities in West Punjab. Some
of them, especially the Sikhs in the north-west districts, began
to think that they were not wanted and had better seek homes
elscwhere. But the exodus of Hindus and Sikhs at this time from
West to East Punjab was surprisingly small. They were reluc-
tant to read the signs of an impending revolygion.

Many people have supposed that this outburst of communal
rioting in the Punjab followed as a sort of chain reaction from
the disturbances in Bihar in the previous autumn which them-
selves had been provoked by the earlier trouble in East Bengal.
'This is a mistaken impression. The Punjab had long been brew-
ing its own explosive mixture which had now blown up spon-

Aangously. It required no outside fuse for its detonation.

he cxplosion had long been apprehended, but its severity!?
and the failurc in sevcral places to deal with it promptly and
effectively came as a shock. Congress, and Hindus generally,
were loud 1n their criticism. It was pointed out, as though of
sinister significance, that British officers were in charge in the
very places where the riots were worst—the implication being
that they had themselves stirred up the trouble or were in-
diffcrent to its suppression. The first <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>